
Democratic Services Contact Officer: Victoria Wallace 03450 450 500 democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9 June 2015 
 
To: Councillor Mark Howell, Portfolio Holder 
 
 Anna Bradnam Opposition Spokesman 
 Jose Hales Opposition Spokesman 
 Philippa Hart Opposition Spokesman 
 Hazel Smith Opposition Spokesman 
 Bunty Waters Scrutiny and Overview Committee 
 
Dear Sir / Madam 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of HOUSING PORTFOLIO HOLDER'S MEETING, 
which will be held in MONKFIELD ROOM, FIRST FLOOR at South Cambridgeshire Hall on 
WEDNESDAY, 17 JUNE 2015 at 5.30 p.m. 
 
Yours faithfully 
JEAN HUNTER 
Chief Executive 
 
Requests for a large print agenda must be received at least 48 hours before the meeting. 
 

 
AGENDA 

PAGES 
 PROCEDURAL ITEMS   
 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 
2. Minutes of Previous Meeting   1 - 4 
 The Portfolio Holder is asked to sign the minutes of the meeting held on 

18 March 2015 as a correct record. 
 

   
 DECISION ITEMS   
 
3. Anti-Social Behaviour Policy and Procedure Statement   5 - 38 
 
4. Social Housing Tenancy Fraud Policy   39 - 48 
 
5. Communal Facilities Use and Charging Policy   49 - 66 
 
 STANDING ITEMS   
 
6. Tenant Participation Group    
 
7. Forward Plan   67 - 68 
 The Portfolio Holder will maintain, for agreement at each meeting, a 

Forward Plan identifying all matters relevant to the Portfolio which it is 
believed are likely to be the subject of consideration and / or decision by 

 

 South Cambridgeshire Hall 
Cambourne Business Park 
Cambourne 
Cambridge 
CB23 6EA 
t: 03450 450 500 
f: 01954 713149 
dx: DX 729500 Cambridge 15 
minicom: 01480 376743 
www.scambs.gov.uk 



the Portfolio Holder, or recommendation to, or referral by, the Portfolio 
Holder to Cabinet, Council, or any other constituent part of the Council.  
The plan will be updated as necessary. The Portfolio Holder will be 
responsible for the content and accuracy of the forward plan. 

   
 Confidential Items - Members Only 
 The press and public are likely to be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 
the following item in accordance with the provisions of Section 100(A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the Act). 

   
8. New Build Strategy (Council Homes) 2015-2018   69 - 90 
 
9. Date of next meeting    
 21 October 2015 at 5.30pm. 

 
 

 

   
 

OUR LONG-TERM VISION 
 
South Cambridgeshire will continue to be the best place to live, work and study in the country. 
Our district will demonstrate impressive and sustainable economic growth. Our residents will 
have a superb quality of life in an exceptionally beautiful, rural and green environment. 
 
 

OUR VALUES 
 

We will demonstrate our corporate values in all our actions. These are: 
• Working Together 
• Integrity 
• Dynamism 
• Innovation 
  



 GUIDANCE NOTES FOR VISITORS TO SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE HALL 
 Notes to help those people visiting the South Cambridgeshire District Council offices  
While we try to make sure that you stay safe when visiting South Cambridgeshire Hall, you also have a 
responsibility for your own safety, and that of others. 
 
Security 
When attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices you must report to Reception, sign in, and at 
all times wear the Visitor badge issued.  Before leaving the building, please sign out and return the Visitor badge 
to Reception. 
Public seating in meeting rooms is limited. For further details contact Democratic Services on 03450 450 500 or 
e-mail democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 
Emergency and Evacuation 
In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound.  Leave the building using the nearest escape route; from the 
Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this would be via the staircase just outside the door.  Go to the 
assembly point at the far side of the staff car park opposite the staff  entrance 

• Do not use the lifts to leave the building.  If you are unable to use stairs by yourself, the emergency 
staircase landings have fire refuge areas, which give protection for a minimum of 1.5 hours.  Press the 
alarm button and wait for help from Council fire wardens or the fire brigade. 

• Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the fire brigade confirms that it is safe to do so. 
 
First Aid 
If you feel unwell or need first aid, please alert a member of staff. 
 
Access for People with Disabilities 
We are committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to our agendas and minutes. We try 
to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and we will do 
what we can to help you.  All meeting rooms are accessible to wheelchair users.  There are disabled toilet 
facilities on each floor of the building.  Infra-red hearing assistance systems are available in the Council 
Chamber and viewing gallery. To use these, you must sit in sight of the infra-red transmitter and wear a ‘neck 
loop’, which can be used with a hearing aid switched to the ‘T’ position.  If your hearing aid does not have the ‘T’ 
position facility then earphones are also available and can be used independently. You can get both neck loops 
and earphones from Reception. 
 
Toilets 
Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts. 
 
Recording of Business and Use of Mobile Phones 
We are open and transparent about how we make decisions. We allow recording, filming and photography at 
Council, Cabinet and other meetings, which members of the public can attend, so long as proceedings at the 
meeting are not disrupted.  We also allow the use of social media during meetings to bring Council issues to the 
attention of a wider audience.  To minimise disturbance to others attending the meeting, please switch your 
phone or other mobile device to silent / vibrate mode. 
 
Banners, Placards and similar items 
You are not allowed to bring into, or display at, any public meeting any banner, placard, poster or other similar 
item.  Failure to do so, will result in the Chairman suspending the meeting until such items are removed. 
 
Disturbance by Public 
If a member of the public interrupts proceedings at a meeting, the Chairman will warn the person concerned.  If 
they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.  If there is a general 
disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call for that part to be cleared. 
The meeting will be suspended until order has been restored. 
 
Smoking 
Since 1 July 2008, South Cambridgeshire District Council has operated a Smoke Free Policy. No one is allowed 
to smoke at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming part of those offices. 
 
Food and Drink 
Vending machines and a water dispenser are available on the ground floor near the lifts at the front of the 
building.  You are not allowed to bring food or drink into the meeting room. 
 

   



This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of the Housing Portfolio Holder's Meeting held on 
Wednesday, 18 March 2015 at 5.30 p.m. 

 
Portfolio Holder: Mark Howell 
 
 
Councillors in attendance: Anna Bradnam, Kevin Cuffley, Philippa Hart, 

Hazel Smith, Bunty Waters 
 
Also in attendance:   

 
Julie Fletcher Acting Head of Housing Strategy and Development 
Anita Goddard Head of Housing and Property Services 
Wendy Head Chairman, Tenant Participation Group 
Stephen Hills Director of Housing 
Les Rouse Vice Chairman, Tenant Participation Group 
Duncan Vessey New Business Initiatives Manager (Housing) 
Victoria Wallace Democratic Services Officer 
Paul Williams Equality and Diversity Officer 
Heather Wood Housing Advice and Options Manager 
 
 
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
 Councillor Mark Howell declared a non-pecuniary interest as an employee of the Papworth 

Trust. 
  
2. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
 The minutes of the meeting held on 15 October 2014 were agreed as a correct record. 
  
3. COMMUNITY IMPACT STATEMENT AND ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
 
 The New Business Initiatives Manager presented the Community Impact Statement which 

set out the beneficial impact on communities of the Affordable Homes service. Discussion 
ensued: 
• Members were assured that the Council recognised that the design of houses had 
an influence on the physical and emotional wellbeing of residents. The Portfolio 
Holder clarified that housing design had been addressed, with Portfolio Holder and 
other Member involvement in the design of council housing for the future. The 
Director of Housing emphasised that great effort was made with the physical 
design of both the exterior and interior of social rented housing, which was often a 
superior build quality to mass built private homes. Members were informed that 
housing satisfaction was monitored on an ongoing basis. 

• Achieving the objective of ‘promoting opportunities to grow your own food and eat 
a healthy and balanced diet’ was queried with gardens becoming increasingly 
smaller in new build properties. Whilst it was recognised that this was an 
aspirational target, it was highlighted that allotments for residents were not always 
utilised and that this would be something that would be promoted further. 

 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Housing Portfolio Holder's Meeting Wednesday, 18 March 2015 

The New Business Initiatives Manager presented the Financial Inclusion Strategy. The 
following comments were made: 
• The Portfolio Holder requested the removal of Paragraph three on page two of the 
Strategy. 

• The implications of zero hours contracts and housing benefit were discussed. 
Members were informed that with the introduction of universal credit, such changes 
in circumstances should be picked up by the Council more quickly. 

• The Portfolio Holder expressed concern that the Credit Union was Cambridge-
centric but was assured that this was not the case. 

• Concern was raised over the Council continuing to grant fund a number of Citizens 
Advice Bureaus that were outside the District. The Portfolio Holder clarified that the 
Council recognised that it was often geographically easier for  South 
Cambridgeshire residents to access some Citizens Advice Bureaus located outside 
the District boundary and therefore contributed to their funding. 

• Energy conservation improvements to homes were discussed and Members made 
the Portfolio Holder aware of positive feedback from their wards of the external 
cladding the Council had added to homes, for energy conservation. Councillor 
Cuffley informed the Portfolio Holder and other Members that residents in Sawston 
had been particularly impressed with this and were seeing the financial benefits of 
the improvements reflected in their energy bills, and it was thought that the 
appearance of the area had improved where external cladding had been added to 
properties.  

• Energy conservation and fuel poverty regarding the gypsy and traveller community 
was discussed. Information was being disseminated to Eastern Region Gypsy and 
Travellers and a platform was being sought to showcase the work the Council had 
done on this. 

• Access to affordable contents insurance for Council tenants was discussed. It was 
not known why take up of this had been low but the Council would continue to offer 
this to tenants. It was noted that many tenants who had been flooded in Bar Hill in 
August 2014, did not have contents insurance. 

 
 
The Digital Inclusion Strategy was presented and discussed: 
• Universal credit for single claimants was being introduced from December 2015. 
This could only be applied for online and the Digital Inclusion Strategy was aimed 
at helping residents to be able to do this. 

• Passwords for wifi installed in 40 communal rooms at sheltered housing schemes 
across the District would be given to sheltered housing residents to enable them to 
access this wifi in their homes, provided the signal was strong enough. 

• South Cambridgeshire District Council’s ICT service would manage the 40 PC’s 
located in communal rooms. 
 

The Credit Union funding proposal was discussed: 
• It was clarified that Credit Union services would be on a first come first served 
basis for Council tenants.  

• Jam jar accounts that the Credit Union offered, would help 
tenants/leaseholders to manage their money. To find out the balance of their 
jam jar accounts, account holders would have to telephone the Credit Union or 
visit the office. 

 
The Housing Portfolio Holder APPROVED: 
a) The Community Impact Statement. 
b) The Financial Inclusion Strategy. 
c) The payment of £10,000 (ten thousand pounds) to the Rainbow Anglia Credit 

Page 2



Housing Portfolio Holder's Meeting Wednesday, 18 March 2015 

Union Ltd. 
d) The Digital Inclusion Strategy. 
e) The in principle appointment of a fixed term post to help deliver the Digital 
Inclusion Strategy action plan. 

 
  
4. AFFORDABLE HOMES DRAFT SERVICE PLAN 2015/16 
 
 The Acting Head of Housing Strategy and Development presented the Affordable Homes 

Draft Service Plan 2015/16. Discussion and comments were: 
• The reasons for failed negotiations regarding purchase of an additional Gypsy and 
Traveller site at Chesterton Fen Road, were discussed. Members were informed 
that the reason for this was that the site had become financially unviable for the 
Council. Although the Council was no longer considering this site, it was continuing 
to look at and for other sites. 

• Members were informed that work would continue on homes of non-traditional 
construction. 

• Since the report was written, the pilot stage of the Lifeline Plus project had been 
extended. 

• The Portfolio Holder confirmed that the key objective of the Ermine Street Housing 
project was income generation. The money generated would go directly to Council 
services, thereby providing socio economic benefit. 
 

The Housing Portfolio Holder: 
a) APPROVED the Affordable Homes Service Plan for 2015/16. 
b) NOTED the progress of existing projects within the 2014/15 Service Plan. 

  
5. EQUALITY SCHEME 2015-2020 (2015-2016 VERSION) 
 
 The Equality and Diversity Officer presented  a consultation draft Equality Scheme for 

2015-2020 (2015-2016 version) and explained that suggested changes from Executive 
Management Team would be incorporated before this went to consultation, which would 
be after Easter 2015. 
The Portfolio Holder was made aware that EMT had requested more background 
information to be provided in order to strengthen the reasons for dementia being 
highlighted as a priority for the Council.  
Councillor Hart requested that Members be included in the Council’s Mental Health 
training for staff. 
The Portfolio Holder was informed that the commitment regarding the Gypsy and Traveller 
Community would be strengthened, to include work that was being undertaken by the 
Council in this area. 
The Portfolio Holder was made aware that the Executive Management Team had 
requested that the commitment to the mental health of children and young people be 
expanded to include new communities.  
Members commended the Equality and Diversity Officer for the thorough report that had 
been prepared and for the priority areas that had been identified. 
 
The Housing Portfolio Holder ENDORSED the pre-consultation draft of the Council’s 
Equality Scheme for 2015-2020 (2015-16 version), subject to amendments discussed and 
EMT approval. 

  
 
 
 

Page 3



Housing Portfolio Holder's Meeting Wednesday, 18 March 2015 

6. HOUSING ADVICE AND OPTIONS SERVICE REVIEW 
 
 The Housing Advice and Options Manager presented the Housing Advice and Options 

Service Review.  
The Portfolio Holder was informed that the Government had given all local authorities the 
option to apply for Gold Standard status to reflect the housing advice, options service and 
homelessness assistance provided to local residents. A self-assessment had been carried 
out, which had identified a number of improvements needed to the service and which the 
service was keen to implement.  
The Portfolio Holder was informed that going for the gold standard did not provide any 
benefits such as access to further funding for example, other than for the service to be 
able to refer to itself as ‘gold standard’. The Portfolio Holder advised that the service 
should not apply for the gold standard if this meant undertaking a lot of work to achieve 
this, given there would be no direct benefit by doing so, but that the service should 
continue to identify gaps and make improvements in response to these. 
 
The Portfolio Holder NOTED the results of the self-assessment and actions identified to 
improve the service. 

  
7. TENANT PARTICIPATION GROUP 
 
 The Portfolio Holder welcomed the new Vice Chairman of the Tenant Participation Group 

to the meeting. The Chairman of the Tenant Participation Group (TPG) provided an 
update on the TPG: 
• The Tenant Participation Group was being run by the tenants themselves who 
were setting their own agenda and undertaking their own work. 

• The TPG was undertaking a scrutiny review of sheltered housing and support, the 
results of which would be reported in June 2015. 

 
 

  
8. FORWARD PLAN 
 
 The Portfolio Holder NOTED the work programme. 
  
9. TRANSFER OF LAND AT OSP 148 CHURCH LANE, GREAT EVERSDEN 
 
 This item was deferred.  
  
10. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
 The next meeting would take place on 17 June 2015 at 5.30pm. 
  
  

The Meeting ended at 7.10 p.m. 
 

 

Page 4



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  
Report To: Housing Portfolio Holder 17 June 2015 
Lead Officer: Director of Housing 

 
 

 
Anti-Social Behaviour Policy and Procedure Statement 

 
Purpose 

 
1. To seek the approval from the Housing Portfolio Holder for the adoption of the revised 

policy and procedure for responding to reports of nuisance and anti- social behaviour.   
 
2. This is not a key decision. 
 

Recommendations 
 
3. It is recommended that that the Housing Portfolio Holder approves both the policy 

and the procedure attached as Appendix A. 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 
4. There are statutory obligations that the Council must comply with when responding to 

reports of nuisance and anti social behaviour. These have been refreshed with the 
introduction of the Anti Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. The proposed 
revised policy and procedures for dealing with anti -social behaviour ensures that 
these statutory obligations are addressed within the Council’s overall approach. 

 
Background 

 
5. The Council has a duty to investigate reports of nuisance and anti-social behaviour 

and take the appropriate enforcement action. The Antisocial Behaviour Act 2003 
requires the Council to publish a statement of policies, a statement of procedures and 
a summary statement of the policy and procedures.   

 
6. The Anti Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 require the Council to adopt 

an approach that considers prevention and early intervention as well as introducing 
new enforcement powers.  
 

7. Responding to complaints of nuisance and anti social behaviour is also a commitment 
the Council makes to its tenants as part the contract between landlord and tenant 
specified in the tenancy agreement. It is recognised that doing this in a timely and 
effected manner is an important element of the business we conduct on behalf of our 
customers. 

 
Considerations 

 
8. Anti social behaviour in and around the homes that the Council own and manages 

can be experienced by residents or service users, council staff or contractors and 
other residents in the neighbourhood. It therefore extends to where a council tenant is 
the alleged perpetrator or where council tenants are also affected by the behaviour. 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 5



9. This policy and statement sets out how the Council will approach complaints and 
what tools and legislation can be used to take enforcement action. It also highlights 
what partnerships we have with other services and agencies that support and 
compliment our work in this area.  

 
10. As well as enforcement the policy sets out how the Council support victims, witnesses 

and perpetrators of nuisance behaviour and again describes the tools and services 
that are available to be utilised.  
 

11. Successful outcomes in dealing with anti social behaviour rely on partnership working 
and the Council has information sharing arrangements in place, where these are 
permitted, with key partners to tackle nuisance behaviour.  

 
Options 

 
12. It is recommended that the Portfolio Holder approves the policy and procedure 

attached as Appendix A. 
 
13. The Portfolio Holder may prefer to recommend that further work is undertaken on the 

policy and procedure documents and brought back to a future Portfolio Holder 
meeting for decision. 

 
Implications 
 
Financial 

14. The provision of this service is fully costed within the HRA Business Plan and the 
current Affordable Homes budget approved by Council. 

 
 Legal 
15. The adoption of the policy and procedure document will ensure that the Council is 

meeting its statutory obligations. 
 
 Staffing 
16. There are no extra staffing requirements to deliver this policy. 
 
 Risk Management 
17. There are no significant risks associated with this policy.   
 
 Equality and Diversity 
18. An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out and there are no adverse 

impacts associated with this policy. 
 

Consultation responses (including from the Youth Council) 
 
19. There has been consultation with the Tenant Participation Group which has endorsed 

the new policy and procedures. 
 

Corporate aim 
20. Work with tenants, parish councils and community groups to sustain successful, 

vibrant villages. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Background Papers 
 

The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 and statutory guidance for 
frontline professionals published in July 2014 can be found at, 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/all?title=anti%20social%20behaviour 
 
 

 
 

Report Author:  Geoff Clark – Neighbourhood Services Manager  
Telephone: (01954) 713035 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is left blank intentionally.



 
 
 

Appendix A 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
 

Statement of Policies 
Statement of Procedures 

 
 

DRAFT 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
June 2015 

Page 9



2 
 

VERSION HISTORY Version 1 
Effective date  
Review date  
 

VERSION HISTORY Version  
Effective date  
Review date  
Brief summary of changes  

 
 

 
 

KLOE/TSA standard Tenancy and estate management 
Neighbourhood and community 

Linked and /or related documents, 
statute 

Domestic Violence policy 
Harassment Policy 
 
Statute: 
Housing Act 1985, 1988, 1996 and 2004, 
Antisocial Behaviour Act 2003, Protection 
from Harassment Act 1997, Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998, Public Order Act 1986, 
Police Reform Act 2002, Violent Crime 
Reduction Act 2006, Police and Justice 
Act 2006, Environmental Protection Act 
1990, Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 
1993, Clean Neighbourhoods and 
Environments Act 2005, Noise Act 1996, 
Homelessness Act 2002, Data Protection 
Act 1996, Disability Discrimination Act 
1995 and 2005, Race Relations Act 1976 
and 2000, Anti-social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014. 
 

 
 
 

 
Staff consultation 
 

 
 
Resident consultation 
 

 
 
Author 
 

Sherri Lee 

 
Signed off by 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 10



3 
 

Glossary  
 

Term  Definition  
Crime and Disorder 
Reduction Partnerships 
(CDRPs) or Community 
Safety Partnerships (CSPs)  

These partnerships were formed as result of the Crime and Disorder Act 
(1998) and there is one in every local government area, a total of 376 in 
England and Wales. They are accountable to the Crime Reduction 
Director in the relevant regional government office.  

Multi Agency Risk 
Assessment Committees 
(MARACs)  

A forum where multiple agencies get together to provide a coordinated 
response.  

Drugs and Alcohol Action 
Teams (DAATs)  

The partnerships responsible for delivering drug and alcohol strategies at 
a local level. 
 

Youth Offending Teams  A statutory, multi-agency team that was set up following the 1998 Crime 
and Disorder Act with the intention of reducing the risk of young people 
offending and re-offending, and to provide counsel and rehabilitation to 
those who do offend.  

Family Intervention 
Projects  

Family intervention projects work to turn around the behaviour of families 
and reduce their impact on their community. In the past year the 
Government has worked with local authorities to establish over 50 family 
intervention projects across the country.  
 

Partners and Communities 
Together (PACT)  

PACT (Partners and Communities Together) brings together the main 
public, private, voluntary and community organisations in an area. 
Meetings seek the views and involvement of local communities.  
 

Cambridgeshire Primary 
Care Trust (PCT) 

Work in partnership with other organisations, such as local councils and 
the voluntary sector, to improve the health and wellbeing of the residents 
of Cambridgeshire. 
 

Cambridgeshire Fire and 
Rescue Service 

Proactive in arson prevention and road safety, working closely with 
partner organisations to achieve reductions in these areas.  
 

Trading Standards Trading Standards Service provides a variety of statutory and non-
statutory services for consumers and businesses, as well as fulfilling an 
enforcement function. They provide a wide range of services that 
contribute to improvements in safe and healthy lifestyles, crime and 
disorder and economic development.  
 

Social Care and Office of 
Children Young People's 
Service 
(OCYPS) 

Sharing information about children and young people in ways which 
protect confidentiality but also ensure that children and young people are 
adequately protected.  
 

Education 
Welfare 

Parents have a legal duty to ensure that their child receives an education 
suitable to his/her age, ability and aptitude and any special needs.  
Education welfare officers aim to ensure that all children receive an 
education. 
 

Page 11



4 
 

Contents Page 
 
         
1.0 Scope 
 
2.0 Section 1: Statement of Policies 
 
3.0 Structure of the document 
 
4.0 Defining anti-social behaviour 
 
5.0 Residents responsibilities 
 
6.0 TSA standard 
 
7.0 Partnership working 
 
8.0 Data protection and confidentiality 
 
9.0 Staff training 
 
10.0 Tackling anti-social behaviour 
 
11.0 Early interventions 
 
12.0 Enforcement action 
 
13.0 Support for victims, witnesses and perpetrators 
 
14.0 Service standards 
 
15.0 Monitoring 
 
16.0 Equality and diversity 
 
17.0 Publicising the policy 
 
18.0 Section 2: Statement of Procedures 
 
19.0  Prevention 
 
20.0 Responding to reports of anti-social behaviour 
 
21.0 Early interventions 
 
22.0 Enforcement 
 
23.0 Other powers 
 
24.0 Support for victims, witnesses and perpetrators 
 
   
 
 

Page 12



5 
 

1.0  Scope  
 
1.1 The Antisocial Behaviour Statement of Policies and Statement of Procedures  sets out 

our strategy and commitment to tackling antisocial behaviour in and around the homes 
that we own and manage, including antisocial behaviour experienced by:  

 
• residents or service users  
• Council staff or contractors  
• Other residents in a neighbourhood (where a Council tenant is the alleged perpetrator, or 

where Council tenants are also affected by the behaviour)  
  

1.2 This document comprises two of the three documents we are required by the Antisocial 
Behaviour Act 2003 to publish, the Statement of Policies and the Statement of 
Procedures. A summary Statement of Policies and Procedures, the third required 
document, is published separately. These documents are available for residents to 
access from their landlord, and on the website. In addition there is a customer leaflet 
available that sets out how residents can report antisocial behaviour, and how they can 
expect us to respond. Similar information is also available in the tenant handbook.  

 
1.3 There are separate policies and procedures covering Harassment and Domestic 

Violence. These three policies and procedures are closely linked.  
 
1.4 Complaints about the behaviour of staff or contractors will be taken forward through the 

Council’s Complaints, Comments and Compliments policy.  
 
 
2.0 SECTION 1:  Statement of Policies 
 
2.1 Tackling and preventing antisocial behaviour with residents and partners is a 

commitment by the Council in a bid to develop Safer and Stronger communities. We 
believe that residents have the right to live free from concern about antisocial behaviour. 
Our approach includes:  

  
• Prevention of antisocial behaviour through a variety of physical and social interventions, 

including clear communication of our expectations  
• Dealing promptly, proportionately, flexibly and effectively with incidents of antisocial 

behaviour using a partnership approach, offering support to victims, keeping 
complainants and the wider community regularly updated where appropriate, and using 
legal remedies where necessary  

• A commitment to working with perpetrators to change their behaviour wherever possible, 
seeking possession as a last resort  

  
2.2 We will comply with and use the following legislation as part of our antisocial behaviour 

approach:  
 

 Housing Act 1985, 1988, 1996 and 2004, which set out tenancy rights and 
responsibilities, and provide remedies to deal with problems of antisocial 
behaviour. 

  
 Antisocial Behaviour Act 2003 which requires us to prepare and publish 

statements of our policies and procedures on antisocial behaviour, and builds 
on the provisions in the 1996 Housing Act around antisocial behaviour 
injunctions, demoted tenancies and seeking possession on antisocial 
behaviour grounds. 

Page 13



6 
 

  
 Family Law Act 1996, Protection from Harassment Act 1997, and 

Domestic Violence, Crime and Victims Act 2004 which legislate specifically 
around harassment and domestic abuse (as detailed further in our 
Harassment and Domestic Abuse policies) 

  
 Public Order Act 1986, Crime and Disorder Act 1998, Criminal Justice 

and Police Act 2001, Police Reform Act 2002, Violent Crime Reduction 
Act 2006, and the Police and Justice Act 2006, which set out provisions for 
combating crime and disorder, including penalties that can be applied, 
parenting orders and ASBOs  

 
Environmental Protection Act 1990, Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 
1993, Noise Act 1996, and the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environments 
Act 2005 which cover action that can be taken to deal with noise nuisance, 
littering and fly tipping, and control of dogs. 

 
Homelessness Act 2002 which governs the conditions under which 
possession may or may not be sought  

 
Data Protection Act 1996 which sets out principles about use and sharing of 
personal information covered by the Act  
 
Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and 2005 which requires us to ensure 
that in dealing with allegations of antisocial behaviour we do not discriminate 
against an individual because of a disability that they have  
 
Race Relations Act 1976 and 2000, which requires us to ensure that we do 
not discriminate against an individual because of their race  
 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 which regulates the 
interception of communications, the acquisition and disclosure of 
communication data, the carrying out of covert surveillance in private 
premises or vehicles (‘intrusive surveillance’) or in public places but likely to 
obtain private information about a particular person (‘directed surveillance’).  
 
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 statutory guidance 
issued under sections 19, 32, 41, 56, 73 and 91 of the Anti-social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014 and replaces the draft guidance in October 
2013.  

 
2.3 We will also comply with our regulatory requirements, as set out in Tenant Services 

Authority’s national standards. 
   
  
3.0 Structure of the document  
 
3.1 The first section of this document sets out Council’s policy on some cross cutting issues: 
  
• Defining antisocial behaviour  
• Resident responsibilities  
• Partnership working  
• Data protection and confidentiality  
• Staff training 

Page 14



7 
 

3.2 The second part of the Statement of Policies summarises our response to reports of 
antisocial behaviour, including an overview of what response options we will use, and 
support considerations.  

 
3.3 The Statement of Procedures sets out details of these response options and our 

procedures for responding to reports of antisocial behaviour.  
 
 
4.0 Defining Antisocial Behaviour  
 
4.1 Antisocial behaviour can be anything from low-level nuisance to serious violent 

behaviour. It includes all behaviour that impacts negatively on residents’ quality of life in 
and around their homes.  

 
4.2 The Housing Act 1996 as amended set out the following definitions of antisocial 

behaviour in the context of applying for an injunction. These definitions can be used 
more broadly as well in the definition of antisocial behaviour that we can take action 
against as a social landlord:  

  
• Conduct which is capable of causing nuisance or annoyance to any person and which 

directly or indirectly relates to, or affects, the housing management functions of a 
relevant landlord; or  

 
• Conduct which consists of or involves using or threatening to use housing 

accommodation owned or managed by a relevant landlord for an unlawful purpose  
  

4.3 The antisocial behaviour may occur within the neighbourhood of the perpetrator or 
victim. 

 
4.4 People to whom the conduct may cause a nuisance include anyone who has a right to 

live in property that we own or manage, those living in the locality of property that we 
own or manage, and anyone else lawfully in the area who is affected by the behaviour of 
a Council tenant.  

 
4.5 We can take action to deal with antisocial behaviour perpetrated by residents regardless 

of their tenure, choosing appropriate response options in order to do so, and working in 
partnership where necessary.  

 
4.6 Where residents are leaseholders or shared owners, much of this policy and procedure 

will still apply, including the early interventions. We will take legal action in accordance 
with the terms of the lease, as these may differ from case to case.  

 
4.7 Some of the common types of antisocial behaviour are listed below: 
 
• Harassment (see Harassment policy) and intimidating behaviour  
• Hate crime, for example racist or homophobic abuse  
• Behaviour that creates alarm and fear  
• Noisy neighbours and loud parties  
• Problems associated with people dealing and / or using drugs  
• People being drunk and / or rowdy  
• Vandalism, graffiti and other deliberate damage to property  
• Rubbish, litter lying around, fly tipping and abandoned cars etc.  
• Pets 

  

Page 15



8 
 

4.8 These types of behaviour may involve serious criminal activity. The main thing to 
consider is the impact of the behaviour on others.  

 
 
5.0 Resident responsibilities  
 
5.1 We expect residents and their visitors to behave in a responsible way and to respect 

other tenants and residents in the local area. Our Tenancy Agreement contains 
nuisance clauses that prohibit tenants from engaging in antisocial behaviour.  

 
5.2 Leaseholders and shared owners are also covered by this policy, and are expected to 

refrain from antisocial behaviour. Leases also contain references to nuisance, but these 
will vary from case to case. We will take enforcement action according to the terms of 
the individual lease.  

 
5.3 Tenants are responsible for the actions of other members of their household and any 

visitors, and we may take action against them as a result of antisocial behaviour 
perpetrated by any members of their household or visitors.  

 
5.4 We encourage residents who have experienced or witnessed antisocial behaviour to 

report it to us promptly, and to engage with us to resolve problems. We encourage 
communities to take ownership of their areas, and to play a part in preventing and 
responding to antisocial behaviour.  

 
 
6.0 The Tenant Services Authority Antisocial behaviour Standard  
 
6.1 Registered providers shall publish a policy on how they work with relevant partners to 

prevent and tackle anti-social behaviour (ASB) in areas where they own properties. 
 
6.2 In their work to prevent and address ASB, registered providers shall demonstrate: 
 
• That tenants are made aware of their responsibilities and rights in relation to ASB 
• Strong leadership, commitment and accountability on preventing and tackling ASB 

that reflects a shared understanding of responsibilities with other local agencies.  
 
• A strong focus exists on preventative measures tailored towards the needs of tenants 

and their families. 
 
• Prompt, appropriate and decisive action is taken to deal with ASB before it escalates, 

which focuses on resolving the problem having regard to the full range of tools and 
legal powers available 

 
• All tenants and residents can easily report ASB, are kept informed about the status of 

their case where responsibility rests with the organisation and are appropriately 
signposted where it does not. 

 
• Provision of support to victims and witnesses 

 
 
7.0 Partnership working  
 
7.1 Successful outcomes in dealing with antisocial behaviour rely on partnership working. 

We will partner with the police, the education authorities, social services, support 

Page 16



9 
 

providers, Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships (CDRPs) or Community Safety 
Partnerships (CSPs), Multi Agency Risk Assessment Committees (MARACs), Drugs 
and Alcohol Action Teams (DAATs), youth offending teams, probation services, family 
intervention projects, mediation services, Cambridgeshire Fire Service, trading 
standards, Cambridgeshire Primary Care Trust (PCT), voluntary sector organisations, 
victim support and all other relevant bodies. This is particularly important when 
considering:  

 
• Different powers available to different agencies  
• Information sharing about individuals and cases where data protection law allows  
• Providing appropriate support to victims, witnesses and perpetrators  

  
7.2 Antisocial behaviour can affect residents of any given neighbourhood regardless of 

tenure or landlord. We will work with other owners and managers of property within 
neighbourhoods where we own or manage property to find the appropriate 
neighbourhood solution, including private landlords.  

 
7.4 We will play an active role in local Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships (CDRPs) 

or Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) and other local and regional forums that work 
to reduce antisocial behaviour in areas where we own and manage stock. Where 
appropriate we will take a leading role in such partnerships, proactively working to make 
them effective, improving outcomes for individuals, and linking in to wider local, regional 
and national agendas.  

 
7.5 We will develop effective information sharing protocols with all relevant partners to 

facilitate the straightforward exchange of pertinent information, for the purposes of 
tackling antisocial behaviour, within the requirements of Data Protection law.  

 
7.6 We will set up partnership arrangements with relevant advice and support providers to 

facilitate easy referrals and improve the overall service received by victims, witnesses 
and perpetrators.  

 
7.7 We will work closely with other organisations to ensure a holistic and coordinated 

approach to dealing with problems of antisocial behaviour, avoiding duplication of effort. 
We will work together to use powers available to different organisations. Details of these 
powers are included in the Statement of Procedures.  

 
7.8 We will work with other organisations and partner agencies to ensure effective and 

efficient use of resources and to prevent duplication. 
 
 
8.0 Data Protection and Confidentiality  
 
8.1 The Data Protection Act 1998 set out requirements for ensuring that data about 

individuals is properly protected, and only shared in a lawful way. We will comply with 
the best practice guidance set out in the Framework Code of Practice for Sharing 
Personal Information published by the Information Commissioner. Any information 
shared:  

 
• will be necessary, relevant and not excessive  
• will be shared fairly and transparently  
• will be accurate and up-to-date  
• won’t be kept any longer than is necessary  
• will be kept secure  

Page 17



10 
 

• will be able to be requested by the individual that it relates to. 
 
 
8.2 Where there isn’t an information sharing agreement in place information will only be 

shared after confirmation from a solicitor, ASB Specialist or the Data Protection Officer 
that it is lawful to do so.  

 
8.3 Staff will at all times be vigilant to ensure that they maintain confidentiality, and do not 

give details of cases they are involved in or aware of to any person inappropriately.  
 
8.4 We will be sensitive to the effect that disclosure of identity to a perpetrator or any other 

party could have on a complainant. We will only disclose the complainant’s identity to 
the perpetrator and any other parties including doctors and teachers with their explicit 
written permission.  

 
8.5 In some cases we will make referrals to social services or to the police without the 

permission of the complainant, where the situation justifies it.  
 
8.6 Under section 35 of the Data Protection Act information disclosed as a requirement of 

law or in connection to legal proceedings or obtaining legal advice is exempt from the 
non-disclosure provisions.  

 
 
9.0 Staff training  
 
9.1 All staff receive data protection training as part of their induction.  
 
9.2 Staff responsible for responding to reports of antisocial behaviour and finding solutions 

will receive appropriate training.  
 
 
10.0 Tackling antisocial behaviour  
 
10.1 We are committed to tackling antisocial behaviour through prevention, early 

intervention, support options, working in partnership to use other agencies’ powers, and 
where necessary taking legal action.  

 
10.2 The Council is committed to working proactively to prevent the incidents of antisocial 

behaviour on all of our estates and in the villages. Further detail on these commitments 
is available in the Statement of Procedures. In summary, we will do the following: 

  
• Work to make sure that tenancies start on the right note, including making appropriate 

lettings where possible, and setting out our expectations of behaviour clearly before and 
at the beginning of the tenancy. We will work to identify any support needs before and at 
the beginning of a tenancy, and make appropriate referrals to support providers.  

• Promote the use of Good Neighbourhood Agreements on our estates; specific to local 
issues, setting agreed standards of behaviour with residents in specific areas.  

• Consider what physical improvements could reduce antisocial behaviour and increase 
safety and perception of safety, including carrying out regular estate inspections and 
managing maintenance contracts; carrying out estate improvements and planned 
property upgrade programs, including in some cases the installation of crime deterrents.  

• Use a range of other antisocial behaviour reduction initiatives at a local level, including 
proactive involvement in the local community and partnership working with other 
agencies working in the area..  

Page 18



11 
 

 
10.3 Where antisocial behaviour does occur, we will respond quickly, working in partnership 

as appropriate. Taking action against perpetrators of antisocial behaviour sends a clear 
message to other residents that we will not tolerate such behaviour.  

 
10.4 The response to any situation will vary from case to case and can depend on:  

 
• The type of behaviour and its impact on others  
• The evidence available to support a case  
• Any vulnerability suffered by the victim, complainant or perpetrator, including 

whether the victim, complainant or perpetrator has a disability under the 
Disability Discrimination Act  

 
10.5 The action that will be taken in any particular instance will be detailed in the case action 

plan when it is formulated. This will be reviewed as appropriate.  
 
10.6 We reserve the right to respond to individual cases, as we consider appropriate. This 

may involve using the response options set out in this policy and procedure in the order 
they are suggested, or in any other order. We also reserve the right not to use any of the 
response options if we do not think they are appropriate.  

 
10.7 Where the alleged perpetrators are children or young people we will involve parents 

and guardians to help to resolve the problem. We will also liaise with social services, 
schools, youth offending teams, and any other relevant bodies.  

 
10.8 All action that we take to deal with antisocial behaviour will be communicated clearly to 

complainants, witnesses and perpetrators in a language and format appropriate to their 
needs. We will keep all parties regularly updated about progress.  

 
 
11.0 Early interventions  
 
11.1 The Council is committed to intervening at an early stage in antisocial behaviour cases 

in order to resolve problems and prevent their escalation. When a report is made of 
antisocial behaviour, we will consider the use of the following early intervention: 

 
• Visits 
• Support and multi-agency referrals  
• Written and verbal warnings  
• Mediation  
• Acceptable Behaviour Contracts (ABCs)  
• Parental Control Agreements (PCAs) 
• Good Neighbour Agreements (GNAs) 
 

11.2 Sometimes antisocial behaviour may be caused by or exacerbated by the perpetrator’s 
vulnerabilities or disabilities. We will be vigilant to consider whether this may be the 
case. However, we will still take action to deal with antisocial behaviour perpetrated by 
someone with vulnerabilities or disabilities.  

 
11.3 We will use a verbal and written warning system to deal with complaints about 

breaches of tenancy or antisocial behaviour at an early stage. We will not send a written 
warning unless we have some level of confirmation that the person involved has in fact 
carried out the antisocial behaviour they are accused of.  

 

Page 19



12 
 

11.4 The Council will promote mediation to resolve minor disputes between two neighbours 
around issues such as car parking, boundary disputes, dogs barking, lifestyle conflicts 
and noise nuisance.  

 
 
12.0 Enforcement action  
 
12.1 The law has created tools that can be used by landlords to deal with cases of antisocial 

behaviour. We will use legal action where necessary, but in general we will try to work 
with perpetrators and complainants to resolve the situation without resorting to legal 
action. Early interventions as listed in the section above are our preferred first approach.  

 
12.2 Where these early interventions fail to achieve desired outcomes, or where incidents 

are of a serious nature, we will consider using the following:  
 
• Eviction 
• Civil Injunctions  
• Closure Orders 
• Criminal Behaviour Orders 
• Community Protection Notices 
• Public Spaces Protection Orders 
• Absolute Ground For Possession 
 
12.3 We will decide what enforcement action is most appropriate on a case by case basis. 

We reserve the right to take whatever action we consider to be most appropriate in each 
circumstance.  

 
12.4 We will follow the Governments guidelines and will use the appropriate current 

legislative orders available to us as and where necessary.  
 
12.5 We may consider using demoted tenancies but this will require a Council decision. 

However we will use possession action as standalone remedy or in conjunction with 
applying for an injunction or an antisocial behaviour order.  

 
12.6 We will only take possession action as a last resort where there is serious antisocial 

behaviour, and where we have a real intention of seeking possession. Our priority as a 
social landlord is to ensure tenancies are sustained in a way compatible with the needs 
of others not to suffer antisocial behaviour, and to avoid simply moving problems 
elsewhere. However, when we apply for possession we will follow through on it. We will 
follow the standard process for approving evictions.  

 
12.7 We will get legal advice and guidance at an early stage and throughout all cases where 

we take legal action. We will ensure that we use appropriate legal advisors who are 
experts in their field. We will be clear about what we want our legal advisors to do to 
ensure we get an effective, value for money service.  

 
 
13.0 Support for victims, witnesses and perpetrators  
 
13.1 We will consider whether victims, witnesses or perpetrators have any support needs 

from the beginning of any case that we are dealing with and adopt a victim harm 
centered approach.  A risk assessment will be carried out on individuals to ascertain 
their level of risk / distress / vulnerability. 

 

Page 20



13 
 

13.2 Antisocial behaviour can cause significant distress to victims and witnesses. The 
Council will work with local agencies and community groups to help provide appropriate 
support for victims of antisocial behaviour. We may provide this support from within the 
group or work with external partners or agencies. We will refer to specialist agencies, 
where relevant, to provide specialist help and support to help tackle antisocial 
behaviour.  

 
13.3 We will make the reporting process, interviewing, creation of an action plan and 

evidence collection mechanisms as straightforward as possible to minimise the burden 
on complainants. Staff dealing with reports initially and on an ongoing basis will be 
considerate and sensitive to the potential distress of the victims and witnesses.  

 
13.4 In severe cases, for example where physical violence has been experienced, or there is 

irresolvable damaging conflict between two parties, we may consider whether a 
voluntary move on management grounds would be appropriate.  

 
13.5 Where we are considering proceeding to legal action against perpetrators of antisocial 

behaviour, we will make sure we are not discriminating against the perpetrator because 
of a disability that they have, in accordance with the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 
and 2005.  

 
13.6 We will make every effort to protect and support witnesses during court proceedings. 
We will cover reasonable expenses.  
 
 
14.0 Service Standards  
 
14.1 We will:  
 
• Use a range of prevention measures to reduce antisocial behaviour  
• Take a victim-centered approach  
• Investigate all complaints of antisocial behaviour  
• Ensure that all reports of antisocial behaviour are responded to  
• Report incidents of racial harassment and domestic violence to the relevant partner 

agency within 24 hours  
• report offensive or discriminatory graffiti to the relevant department within 24 hours of it 

being reported  
• Support and work with the complainant in trying to resolve the complaint  
• Agree an action plan within two weeks of receiving a report and review this every month  
• Offer clear advice and support when an incident is reported  
• Use a range of legal and non-legal remedies to resolve antisocial behaviour, taking an 

approach that is appropriate to the case  
• Review all open cases after three months  
• If we feel a case should be closed, we will notify the complainant and give them an 

opportunity to appeal  
• After a case is closed we will ask for feedback on how we dealt with the case.  
 
 
15.0  Monitoring  
 
15.1 We will collect data on antisocial behaviour in order to:  
 
• Make sure we meet our targets  
• Make sure we don’t discriminate against anyone in any individual case  

Page 21



14 
 

• Find out about customer satisfaction and work to improve our services accordingly  
• Identify hotspots of antisocial behaviour and specific problems; and  
• Target resources to tackle antisocial behaviour appropriately  
 
15.2 Some of the particular things we will monitor are:  

 
• number and type of incidents reported  
• support offered and referrals for further support  
• number of cases resolved  
• level of resident satisfaction with outcome and handling  
• actions taken and response options used  
• equality and diversity information relating to the complainant, victim and perpetrator  
• method of reporting ASB cases  
• cost of externally-procured ASB legal services  
• cost of externally-procured non-legal services such as mediation, and specialist victim 

and witness support services  
• repair and clean-up costs associated with ASB  
 
 
16.0 Equality and Diversity  
 
16.1 It is essential to recognise that customers of all races, ages, religions, gender, sexual 

orientation, literacy levels and disability should be treated equally and fairly.  
 
16.2 We recognise that antisocial behaviour can be caused or exacerbated by vulnerability 

or disability. We will work with perpetrators of antisocial behaviour to ensure they have 
the support they need.  

 
16.3 We will ensure that any enforcement action taken, including legal action complies with 

the requirements of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and 2005.  
 
16.4 We recognise that perception of antisocial behaviour may also be affected by 

vulnerability or disability. We will take a harm centered approach and risk assess to 
work with complainants to ensure that they have the correct support they need.  

 
16.5 We will not tolerate harassment, including discriminatory graffiti. Action to tackle 

harassment will be taken in line with our Harassment policy.  
 
16.6 In line with section 49 of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 as amended we will 

comply with the duty on public authorities to eliminate harassment of disabled persons 
that is related to their disabilities.  

 
16.7 All customers will have access to this document upon request or from our website  
 
16.8 This document and accompanying leaflet can be translated or provided in alternative 

formats (e.g. Braille, large print, and audio) upon request.  
 
 
17.0  Publicising the Policy  
 
17.1 The Council publicises its policies and procedures on antisocial behaviour to residents 

and staff in a number of ways:  
• Tenants Handbook  
• Leaflets  

Page 22



15 
 

• South Cambs magazine  
• South Cambs website  
• In-site  
• Policy Briefings   
• Training  
 
17.2 We comply with the requirements of the Antisocial Behaviour Act 2003 to publish a 

Statement of Policies (included in this document), a Statement of Procedures (included 
in this document) and a summary Statement of Policies and Procedures. We will publish 
these documents on our website and make them available in our reception areas and on 
request.  

 
17.3 We will publicise to residents the ways that antisocial behaviour can be reported, and 

encourage residents to use them.  
 
17.4 We will communicate clearly with residents at the outset of their tenancies and 

throughout our expectations around antisocial behaviour.  
 
17.5 Where we are taking action to deal with antisocial behaviour in an area we may 

publicise our actions, including the outcomes of any legal action. We will use personal 
data appropriately and in line with the law.  

 
 
18.0 Section 2:  The Statement of Procedures  
 
19.0 Prevention 
 
19.1 The Council is committed to working proactively to prevent the incidence of antisocial 

behaviour. We will:  
 
• Work to make sure that tenancies start on the right note  
• Promote the use of Good Neighbourhood Agreements  
• Consider what physical improvements could reduce antisocial behaviour  
• Use a range of other antisocial behaviour reduction initiatives at a local level  
 
19.2 Wherever possible we will make appropriate lettings, including consideration of:  
• Age, ethnicity, gender, disability and other profiles of the proposed tenant and their 

household in relation to any one neighbourhood  
• Ensuring residents are housed in appropriate accommodation for their needs, and have 

any support that they need from the outset  
• Facilities available in the neighbourhood e.g. considering whether there are suitable play 

areas available in the neighbourhood when housing households with children  
 
 19.3 We will communicate clearly with all residents before and at the beginning of their 

tenancies about our expectations around antisocial behaviour. This includes:  
 
• Explaining the clauses in our tenancy agreements which relate to antisocial behaviour 

and the implications of breaching the agreement  
 
• Providing residents with the tenant handbook which includes a section on antisocial 

behaviour, the antisocial behaviour customer leaflet, and any other relevant local 
publications about antisocial behaviour  

 

Page 23



16 
 

• Encouraging residents to report any antisocial behaviour using the contact information in 
the above documents  

 
19.4 We will respond appropriately to any concerns around support needs identified before 

the beginning of the tenancy, during sign up interviews and early tenancy visits.  
 
19.5 We will encourage the use of Good Neighbourhood Agreements on our estates. These 

agreements involve the community in setting standards and expectations for behaviour 
in their area. They can be particularly useful:  

 
• on new developments or after major refurbishments, where residents are moving 

together into new or newly refurbished environments  
• where there is a general pattern of low to medium level antisocial behaviour perpetrated 

by more than one person and experienced by more than one person  
 
19.6 They can be effective as a voluntary commitment made by individuals to the community 

they live in. In general, we won’t use an incentive system with the agreements to reward 
or punish behaviour.  

 
19.7 We will use Good Neighbourhood Agreements in conjunction with a range of other 

enforcement and preventative measures. We will provide clear information about why 
we are using Good Neighbourhood Agreements and how they work, so that residents 
feel confident in signing up to them.  

 
19.8 We will work together with communities to develop Good Neighbourhood Agreements, 

seeking to engage local residents and to encourage them to share some of the 
responsibility for tackling nuisance behaviour and promoting positive behaviour.  

 
19.9 We will develop Good Neighbourhood Agreements that are easy to understand, 

attractively presented, concise, reflect our overall policy approach, and focus on local 
priorities.  

 
19.10 We recognise that the physical environment of a neighbourhood can affect the 

likelihood of antisocial behaviour occurring. For example, maintaining neat and tidy 
estates can reduce the incidence of graffiti, fly tipping and vandalism. In addition these 
interventions can increase resident safety and perception of safety in the area.  

 
19.11 In line with our estate management policy we will:  
 
• Carry out regular estate inspections to check maintenance standards and note any 

repairs that are needed  
• Ensure that appropriate cleaning and grounds maintenance contracts are procured and 

managed  
• Deal promptly with any reports of graffiti, fly tipping, abandoned vehicles and repairs (any 

discriminatory graffiti will be removed within 24 hours)  
• Carry out estate improvements, particularly on estates where specific problems have 

been identified  
 
19.12 We will consider whether crime deterrents would be effective, bearing in mind overall 

costs of installation, maintenance and monitoring. These deterrents might include:  
 
• Improving lighting arrangements  
• Changing the layout of vegetation or landscaping, or carrying out alterations to walls, 

passageways and entranceways etc. to remove trouble spots  

Page 24



17 
 

• Installation of signage  
• Installation of CCTV cameras where there is a clear benefit to be gained and there is an 

arrangement to monitor the tapes, or installation of dummy CCTV cameras  
• Installation or improvement of controlled door entry systems, particularly in blocks with 

communal entries, or other security systems  
• Installation of ‘mosquitoes’, pink tube lighting, classical music outlets or other creative 

approaches to tackling antisocial behaviour  
 
19.13 When we carry out estate improvements or install crime deterrents we will, where 

appropriate, involve the local community in considering the most appropriate solutions to 
local problems, where possible including them in design and layout planning.  

 
19.14 On new developments and when we carry out major works we will work to “Secured 

by Design” principles wherever possible.  
 
19.15 Where there are particular problems on estates which exacerbate antisocial behaviour 

(for example poor sound insulation) we will consider whether we could carry out a 
planned programme of work to remove or reduce the problem.  

 
19.16 At a local level, we will work proactively and creatively with partner agencies to find 

effective ways to preventing antisocial behaviour occurring, including for example:  
 
• Running youth diversionary activities such as football clubs, and considering providing 

transport where needed to attend the activities  
• Setting up community development activities, including regular clubs and societies as 

well as one-off events, and considering running events such as good neighbour award 
ceremonies.  

• Involvement in local schools, including participating in workshops and assemblies to 
improve understanding of antisocial behaviour and its consequences  

• Working in partnership to increase the presence in neighbourhoods of community 
wardens and community police  

• Setting up neighbourhood watch or other equivalent schemes where appropriate  
 
 
19.17 We will work to develop good community spirit, promoting respect and pride in the 

community.  
 
19.18 We may publicise results of successful antisocial behaviour interventions using a 
range of media, including:  
 
• website  
• South Cambs magazine  
• Local newspapers  
• Community notice boards  
• Mail shots  
 
19.19 We will use the publicity of cases wisely as although it can act to deter others from 

engaging in such conduct, “naming and shaming” may have the adverse effect. Any 
publicity will comply with data protection law, and where necessary will be checked with 
the legal officers or our data protection officer. In some cases the court or the police 
may instruct us that publicity is not advisable.  

 
19.20 We will use similar mechanisms to publicise to residents our expectations around 

antisocial behaviour, and how residents can report problems.  

Page 25



18 
 

 
19.21 We will work in partnership to offer surgeries in local areas with representatives from 

relevant organisations such as the police and other agencies. 
 
 
20.0  Responding to reports of antisocial behaviour  

 
20.1 Antisocial behaviour can be reported by victims or witnesses by phone, e-mail, letter, in 

person or on our website. Contact numbers are advertised on the website, in the 
Tenant’s Handbook, and in customer leaflets.  

 
20.2 We will work with residents to determine service standards. 
 
20.3 We will contact the complainant within two working days if there is a risk of injury, 

damage to the household, home or serious criminal activity is reported.   
 
20.4 The officer responsible for the case will contact the complainant within ten working days 

of the initial report and provide them with diary sheets and useful information.  
 
20.5 Where are emergency repairs or removal of particular types of graffiti are required as a 

direct result of ASB we will pass the details to the relevant department within 24 hours of 
the report.  

 
20.6 We will take a harm centered approach and risk assess all complainants so that we are 

aware of complainant’s vulnerabilities, and provide a quicker response where possible 
to meet their needs.  

 
20.7 We will at all times be considerate of the disturbance and upset that antisocial 

behaviour can cause for victims, witnesses and the wider community. We will be quick 
to offer support options where they may be appropriate.  

 
20.8 We will encourage complainants to report any criminal behaviour to the police. We will 

report any concerns about the safety or wellbeing of any children to social services.  We 
will also report any concerns to relevant partner agencies about the welfare of victims, 
witnesses and perpetrators. 

 
20.9 Complaints which do not fall under the category of antisocial behaviour (for example 

complaints about a staff member’s conduct) may be referred through the Complaints 
process instead of following the antisocial behaviour procedure. Please see the 
Council’s Complaints, Comments and Compliments policy for more details.  

 
20.10 Staff members will be aware of the possibility of unfounded or libelous reports being 

made, as well as racist or other discriminatory motivations behind accusations. All such 
reports will be investigated, but it may be decided to close the case at an early date. 
Where it is considered that the complainant is in fact perpetrating harassment, we will 
take action in line with our Harassment policy and procedure. We will be sensitive about 
allegations against those that already feel stigmatised or victimised.  

 
20.11 An interview with the complainant will be carried out within fifteen working days of the 

report, unless we are not able to agree an appropriate time with the complainant within 
that timescale. During the interview a Nuisance Action Plan and Risk Assessment will 
also be completed.  We will also interview the alleged perpetrator and any other 
witnesses or victims within ten working days of interviewing the complainant.  

 

Page 26



19 
 

20.12 In all cases the security of staff is paramount. Staff health and safety is covered by the 
Health and Safety policy and the Lone Working policy.  

 
20.13 Where it is evident that antisocial behaviour has occurred an action plan for dealing 

with the problem will be finally agreed within 15 working days of the initial report. The 
action plan will set out what the complainant will do and what the landlord will do 
including agreeing timescales for communication with the tenant in relation to updates 
on the case. We will give the complainant a copy of the action plan within five working 
days of its creation, as well as a copy of the antisocial behaviour customer leaflet that 
sets out our overall commitments.  

 
20.14 We reserve the right to respond to individual cases, as we consider appropriate. This 

may involve using the response options set out in this policy and procedure in the order 
they are suggested, or in any other order. We also reserve the right not to use any of the 
response options if we do not think they are appropriate.  

 
20.15 Where there is no evidence that any antisocial behaviour has taken place (taking into 

consideration the definitions of antisocial behaviour set out at the beginning of the 
policy), we may take the decision to close the case without creating an action plan.  

 
20.16 At this early stage we will discuss the complainant’s expectations with them, 

explaining what we are able to do, what we need to work in partnership to do, and what 
we can’t do. In all appropriate circumstances we will ask all parties involved to accept 
mediation as a way of resolving disputes.  

 
20.17 We will be vigilant throughout to consider any support needs that the complainant or 

victims may have and to refer them to any appropriate support routes as necessary. 
Where the complainant has a physical or mental disability we will proactively work to 
ensure we accommodate their needs. Sometimes an individual’s perception of 
behaviour to be antisocial may be affected by vulnerability or disability. Where this is 
considered to be the case we will ensure that appropriate support is provided to 
overcome these perceptions.  

 
20.18 Regular review of the case and communication with the victim(s) and/or witness(es) is 

key to managing satisfaction levels and achieving a positive result. We will make 
contact with the complainant on a regular basis as agreed within the action plan and 
will carry out a review of the action plan on a monthly basis (30 calendar days) to 
check the approach is still appropriate in light of any new evidence.  

 
20.19 Cases will be closed when the complainant is satisfied with the outcome. Cases may 

also be closed:  
 
• If the complainant withdraws their complaint  
• If there is no further possible action that can be taken, and the problem is not considered 

serious  
• Where new evidence changes the case, for example where it becomes apparent that 

antisocial behaviour has not taken place  
• Where no correspondence has been received from the complainant for two months. 
 
20.20 Where we feel a case should be closed we will offer the resident opportunity to 

present new or further evidence that would justify the case remaining open. However we 
reserve the right to close cases where there is no further action that we can reasonably 
take, even if the resident is not satisfied with the outcome.  

 

Page 27



20 
 

20.21 Where possible we will aim to resolve cases within three months of the initial report. 
However where we take legal action it is likely that cases will take longer than 
three months to resolve.  

 
 
20.23 We will use a range of methods to gather evidence. As a start, we will interview the 

complainant(s), any witnesses, and where appropriate the perpetrator. Where their 
evidence would be valuable in court we will ask complainants and / or witnesses to 
provide a statement and attend court. 

 
20.24 Where necessary we will ask complainant(s) to complete diary sheets of their 

experience. This may be particularly relevant when dealing with noise nuisance and 
other environmental antisocial behaviour. We will agree timescales with the complainant 
for completing the evidence collection, and when we will have reviewed the feedback 
by.  

 
20.25 Staff may carry out scheduled and unscheduled visits to the area to gather evidence, 

as well as door knocking residents in the area.  
 
20.26 We will liaise with partners, such as the police and other agencies, to gather 

information relevant to the case. In all situations we will comply with Data Protection law, 
as stated in our policy.  

 
20.27 We will consider the use of monitoring equipment such as CCTV where appropriate to 

gather evidence of antisocial behaviour and crime subject to the principles set out in the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, the Data Protection Act 1998 and the 
Code of Guidance prepared by the Information Commissioner. Where appropriate we 
will consult with residents about the installation of monitoring equipment.  

 
 
21.0 Early interventions  
 
21.1 The Council is committed to intervening at an early stage in antisocial behaviour cases 

in order to resolve problems and prevent their escalation. This section sets out the early 
interventions that we will use:  

• Support and multi-agency referrals  
• Written and verbal warnings  
• Mediation  
• Acceptable Behaviour Contracts (ABCs)  
• Parental Control Agreements (PCAs) 
• Good Neighbour Agreements (GNAs) 
 
21.2 In some cases where the antisocial behaviour is of a particularly serious nature, or 

where it has re-occurred sometime after a previous incident we may proceed straight to 
considering legal action such as a Civil Injunction, Closure Order, Community Protection 
Notice, Criminal Behaviour Order, Absolute Ground For Possession using guidelines as 
set out by the Government. 

 
21.3 We can use these early interventions with tenants and non-tenants. We will work with 

other agencies to coordinate action, agreeing a lead agency according to which is most 
appropriate. Where the perpetrator is our tenant and the behaviour affects a housing 
management function, it is likely that we will take the lead.  

 

Page 28



21 
 

21.4 Sometimes antisocial behaviour may be caused by or exacerbated by the perpetrator’s 
vulnerabilities or disabilities. We will be vigilant to consider whether this may be the case 
and will always take a harm centered approach.  

 
21.5 In other instances we may refer individuals to appropriate other agencies such as social 

services, or private and voluntary sector organisations that provide support. As well as 
supporting victims, these agencies have the expertise to deal with the wider problems 
that often fuel anti-social behaviour such as social exclusion, unemployment, family 
breakdown, truancy, exclusion from school, and drug and alcohol dependency.  

 
21.6 Perpetrators may also be able to be referred to structures such as youth offending 

teams or family intervention projects to provide specific targeted support.  
 
21.7 Support offered will be done in consultation with our partners, to ensure that a holistic 

and effective approach is taken, avoiding duplication of effort.  
 
21.8 After a report of antisocial behaviour has been substantiated and a perpetrator 

identified we will usually give the perpetrator a verbal warning, followed up by a written 
warning. Where we are unable to contact the perpetrator in person or on the phone, we 
will just send the written warning.  

 
21.9 The verbal warning can be a good opportunity to talk to the perpetrator about the 

situation and perhaps identify early solutions. However, a warning may not always be 
appropriate, and other response options should also be considered.  

 
21.10 We will use a verbal and written warning system to deal with complaints about 

substantive breaches of tenancy or antisocial behaviour at an early stage. We will not 
send a written warning unless we have some level of confirmation that the person 
involved has in fact carried out the antisocial behaviour they are accused of.  

 
21.11 The warning will include details of the antisocial behaviour in question and what 

conditions of tenancy have been breached; who to contact with any enquiries, and what 
further action will be taken should the behaviour continue. We will include with the 
warning our antisocial behaviour leaflet, as well as any relevant documents such as 
Good Neighbourhood Agreements.  

 
21.12 We will be aware of issues which may make a written warning less effective such as 

learning difficulties, visual impairment, low literacy levels or low understanding of 
English.  

 
21.13 We will take into account action being taken to refer an individual to support services, 

and any other action already underway.  
 
21.14 Written and verbal warnings can be made to any perpetrator of antisocial behaviour, 

regardless of whether they are a Council tenant or not.  
 
21.15 Many neighbour disputes could be addressed early on if the victim were to speak with 

the person causing the nuisance and raise the issue with them. We will encourage 
complainants to talk to the other person / people involved to find a solution to the 
problem.  

 
21.16 If informal discussions between neighbours fail to resolve problems, parties involved 

will be offered mediation, where agreements can be made on resolving the problems. It 
is less damaging, stressful and expensive than legal action and often quicker to reach a 

Page 29



22 
 

solution. As well as resolving disputes it may actually strengthen relationships between 
parties involved.  

 
21.17 The Council will promote mediation where appropriate to resolve minor disputes 

between two neighbours around issues such as car parking, boundary disputes, dogs 
barking, and noise nuisance.  

 
21.18 An ABC is a voluntary agreement made between an alleged perpetrator of antisocial 

behaviour and partnering agencies (e.g. ourselves, local police, schools etc). It is most 
commonly used with young people between the ages of 10 and 18 years old, but can be 
used for all age groups.  

 
21.19 The flexible nature of ABCs means that they can be used incrementally to tackle 

issues from minor misdemeanors to more serious problems. Where behaviour is 
persistent or serious support to address the underlying causes of the behaviour will be 
offered in parallel to the contract. This may include diversionary activities (such as 
attendance at a youth project), counseling or support for the family.  

 
21.20 The contract should be drawn up with the perpetrator, taking into account their views. 

It should identify specific antisocial acts in which the person can be shown to have been 
involved, and which they agree not to continue. The contract can also include positives, 
i.e. activities that will help prevent recurrence, such as attending school.  

 
21.21 They usually last for a period of six months, and will be monitored on at least a 

monthly basis during that time. Where there are breaches the contract may be extended 
or amended. Breaches will be followed up on appropriately, and where necessary 
further enforcement action may be taken, including using legal action.  

 
21.22 ABCs can be an effective tool for dealing with antisocial behaviour. If breached, these 

contracts provide support for further action, for example through the courts. The Council 
will promote the use of ABCs as an effective early intervention  

 
21.23 Where we use ABCs with children under the age of 18 we will involve parents and 

guardians as much as possible. We will notify and work with any relevant youth 
offending team or other agencies. We may consider whether a parenting contract would 
be more appropriate, particularly for children under the age of ten.  

 
21.24 ABCs can be used by different agencies. Where appropriate we will act as the lead 

agency for the contract where it is with one of our residents, but we will also support 
other agencies such as local authorities or youth offending teams using contracts with 
perpetrators, where our residents are affected.  

 
21.25 Parenting contracts are a two-sided arrangement where both the parent and the 

agency play a part in improving the child’s behaviour. Parenting contracts offer a 
method for agencies to work with parents on a voluntary basis, in a structured and 
balanced way.  

 
21.26 They can consist of two elements: 
 
• A parenting programme designed to meet parents' needs to help them address their 

child or children's misbehaviour. This is not a punishment but a positive way of bolstering 
parental responsibility and helping parents develop their skills so they can respond more 
effectively to their children's needs  

• A second element specifies ways in which parents are required to exercise control over 
their children's behaviour to address particular factors associated with their behaviour or 

Page 30



23 
 

offending. Examples might be escorting their children to and from school every day to 
ensure attendance, or ensuring that a child is at home during certain hours.  

 
21.27 It is not an offence for parent(s) or carer(s) to refuse to enter into a parenting contract 

or fail to comply with its terms but both of these actions may be used by agencies to 
support an application for a parenting order which will make the requirements of the 
parenting contract compulsory.  

 
 
22.0  Enforcement action  
 
22.1 The law has created tools that can be used to deal with cases of antisocial behaviour. 

We will use legal action where necessary, but in general we will try to work with 
perpetrators and complainants to resolve the situation without resorting to legal action. 
Early interventions as listed in the section above are our preferred first approach.  

 
22.2 Where these early interventions fail to achieve desired outcomes, or where incidents 

are of a serious nature, we will apply for the following:  
• Civil Injunctions  
• Closure Orders 
• Criminal Behaviour Orders 
• Community Protection Notices 
• Absolute Grounds For Possession 
• Parenting Orders  
• Possession  
 
22.3 We will decide what enforcement action is most appropriate on a case by case basis. 

We reserve the right to take whatever action we consider to be most appropriate in each 
circumstance.  

 
22.4 Civil Injunctions are orders obtained from the County Court, prohibiting the person 

concerned from engaging in the behaviour detailed in the injunction. We will use them to 
prevent a range of antisocial behaviour relating to housing such as playing loud music at 
night, barking dogs, verbal abuse and vandalism. An injunction can only be sought 
against a perpetrator over the age of 18. A Civil Injunction could require some positive 
requirements, such as the perpetrator should engage with agencies that are able to 
provide the relative support such as drug and alcohol addiction. 

 
22.5 There are a number of Current Legislative Orders available that can be used against 

perpetrators that are tenants. They are aimed at stopping the antisocial behaviour rather 
than punishing the perpetrator. They are targeted directly to the problem, listing specific 
behaviour that is prohibited or required, and can apply for a limited period or indefinitely 
as appropriate.  

 
22.6 Where properties are being used illegally (for example drug dealing, running a brothel, 

handling stolen goods) we may use the following legal remedies: 
• a Section 153B injunction instead to prohibit any illegal conduct.  
• Closure Order 
• Absolute Grounds For Possession 

The Court must only be satisfied that the person has used or threatened to use their property 
for an unlawful purpose.  
 
22.7 Section 153 C refers specifically to an Exclusion Order and/or Power of Arrest. This can 

be attached to 153 A, 153 B and 153 D of the Act. The Court may decide to attach a 

Page 31



24 
 

power of arrest to one or more provisions of the Injunction or to exclude the defendant 
from any premises or area specified within the terms of the Injunction, including his or 
her own place of residence, where there is either:  

 
• A use or threat of violence or  
• a significant risk of harm to any of the classes of person specified under Section 

153A of the Housing Act 1996  
  

22.8 Where there isn’t a direct link to the housing management function, we may use 
Section 153 D to obtain an injunction to deal with specific breaches (or anticipated 
breaches) of clauses in the tenancy agreement. They can only be applied to a tenant, 
and must relate to a clause in the tenancy agreement. If we proceeded to possession, 
this type of injunction would cease to be in force at the point of eviction. The Conduct 
Test for Section 153 D is on the grounds that the tenant is:  

 
• engaging or threatening to engage in conduct that is capable of causing nuisance or 

annoyance to any person, or  
• allowing, inciting or encouraging any other person to engage or threaten to engage in 

such conduct  
  

22.9 In cases involving the use or threat of violence, we will consider applying for an urgent 
injunction without giving the individual prior notice. In all other cases Section 153 
injunctions require prior notice to the individual involved, and the notice must be 
personally served on the individual.  

 
22.10 A defendant may ask the court to accept an “undertaking” instead of giving an 

injunction. In theory this will have the same force as the injunction, but it doesn’t 
establish a “finding of fact” which can make it preferable for the defendant.  

 
22.11 In general breach of a Civil Injunction is considered to be a contempt of court and is 

punishable by imprisonment and/or a fine. We can also apply for the Civil Injunction to 
come with a power of arrest or an Exclusion Order (including to their own residence) 
where there has been use or threatened use of violence, and/or there is a significant risk 
of harm (including emotional or psychological harm) to a person mentioned in the 
injunction.  

 
22.12 Where a power of arrest is attached to a Civil Injunction the role of the police in 

enforcing it is vital. We must ensure that the police are aware of the Injunction and the 
power of arrest, and that we require their support.  

 
22.13 Civil Injunctions can only be used to control the behaviour of those with the mental 

capacity to understand what they are doing and how to modify their behaviour.  
 
22.14 Residents can also seek their own Civil injunctions.  
 
22.15 Other organisations can also seek Civil injunctions, including different types of 

injunction. For example, the Council can serve an injunction under the Local 
Government Act 1972. Police can serve injunctions to deal with gang related violence, in 
line with the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001.  

 
22.16 Current Legislative Orders as listed above and Injunctions are available in County 

Courts for adults and youth Courts for 10 – 17 year olds. These can be obtained on civil 
burden of proof (balance of probabilities rather than beyond reasonable doubt).  

 

Page 32



25 
 

22.17 We will apply for Legislative Orders (listed above) and / or Injunctions, where other 
remedies have failed. We will only use Legislative Orders (listed above) and / Or 
Injunctions where it is felt that they are the most effective tool to deal with the behaviour, 
rather than as a standard procedure. They are most useful when there is clear evidence 
available, and there are serious issues to tackle such as criminal or sub-criminal 
behaviour.  

 
22.18 Legislative Orders and / or Injunctions can be used to tackle a wide range of antisocial 

behaviour, tailoring the terms of the order to each specific case. The orders are tenure-
neutral and can be used against perpetrators living in any type of housing (not just 
social housing). This means that should we proceed to eviction of a perpetrator, any 
Legislative Order and / or Injunction would remain in force.  

 
22.19 We will use clauses in Civil Injunctions, that are realistic and achievable, not those that 

will set the perpetrator up to fail.  
 
22.20 Where the defendant is under 18 we will work with the Youth Offending Team, 

including requesting an assessment of the young person’s needs. Where relevant we 
will apply for an Individual Support Order (ISO) to be attached to the Civil Injunction 
(only when making a standalone application). ISOs can last up to six months and 
require a young person to comply with certain requirements designed to tackle the 
causes of the antisocial behaviour, such as participation in certain activities (up to two 
days a week). The Youth Offending Team is responsible for co-coordinating delivery of 
the ISO and also has a role in ensuring that the defendant understands the terms and 
conditions of the Criminal Behaviour Order / Crime Prevention Injunction and ISO.  

 
22.21 Where drugs offences are involved we can apply for a Drug Intervention Order 

alongside the Civil Injunction to require the root causes of the behaviour to be tackled.  
 
22.22 In some situations we may apply for an interim Civil Injunction (where necessary 

without notice), which has the same prohibitions and penalties for breach as the full 
order. A without notice interim order must be served on the defendant within seven 
days, and will only take effect after it has been served.  

 
22.23 Where groups of people are engaged in antisocial behaviour, a case needs to be 

made against each individual against whom an order is sought. However, the cases can 
be heard together by the court.  

 
22.24 Where legal action is already underway against an individual or group of individuals in 

the county court, where relevant we may apply to add a Closure Order and / or 
Injunction under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 as amended. For example, if we are 
taking possession action against a tenant we might apply for a Civil Injunction to prevent 
them or a relevant party engaging in antisocial behaviour in the area after their eviction 
or from returning to their property while possession proceedings are undertaken. 

 
22.25 We can also apply for an Absolute Possession Order and / or Injunction or Criminal 

Behaviour Order on conviction if criminal proceedings are underway. The Absolute 
Possession Order and / or Injunction on conviction is considered at a civil hearing after 
the verdict. It is not part of the sentence the offender receives for the criminal offence.  

 
22.26 When we obtain a Legislative Order (as listed above) and / or Injunction we will make 

sure that the defendant fully understands its requirements as soon as possible after the 
order is given, preferably before they leave the court.  

 

Page 33



26 
 

22.27 We will monitor Legislative Orders and / or Injunctions carefully and take swift action 
to deal with any breaches, in order to ensure they are an effective tool for tackling 
antisocial behaviour.  

 
22.28 Should the Legislative Order and / or Injunction be breached the Crown Prosecution 

Service should carry out the prosecution. The maximum penalty on conviction in the 
magistrates’ court is six months in prison or a fine not exceeding £5,000 or both; at the 
Crown Court the maximum penalty is five years in prison or a fine or both. Community 
penalties are available but a conditional discharge is not. Breach proceedings for 
children and young people will be dealt with in the youth court.  

 
22.29 A Civil Injunction can be varied on application to the court, but it can’t be discharged 

without the consent of both parties.  
 
22.30 Parenting orders can be applied to court for where a parenting contract is repeatedly 

breached, or parents are unwilling to voluntarily agree to the contract and support that is 
offered. A parenting order can be applied for: 

 
• if we have reason to believe that child or young person is engaged in anti-social 

behaviour and;  
• where that child or young person’s behaviour affects our housing management functions  
 
22.31 Parenting orders can be made for children and young people up to 17 years old. They 

last up to a maximum of 1 year and any course or programme specified in the order can 
last up to 3 months.  

 
22.32 The courts can also require parents to attend a residential parenting course, provided 

that it is likely to be more effective than a non-residential course, and that any 
interference with family life is proportionate (section 18 Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003).  

 
22.33 Breach of a parenting order can be punishable by:  
 
• In the first instance parent(s) or carer(s) will be given a written warning if they fail to 

comply with the terms of the order.  
 
• If they still fail to comply with the conditions of the order a meeting will be called to 

review the situation.  
 
• If after these procedures, the parent(s) or carer(s) do not comply with the order and 

cannot give a give a genuine reason for doing so, they will be in breach of the order 
and may be fined up to £1,000.  

 
 
22.34 Schedule 2 of the Housing Act 1985 includes the following discretionary grounds for 

possession (Ground 2):  
 
The tenant or a person residing in or visiting the dwelling house:  
 
• Has been guilty of conduct causing or likely to cause a nuisance or annoyance to a 

person residing, visiting or otherwise engaging in a lawful activity in the locality, or  
 
• Has been convicted of using the dwelling house or allowing it to be used for immoral 

or illegal purposes, or an arrestable offence committed in, or in the locality of, the 
dwelling-houses.  

Page 34



27 
 

  
Other discretionary grounds that might be used to tackle antisocial behaviour include Ground 
3 relating to tenant neglect of the property.  
 
 22.35 Courts must give particular consideration to the actual or likely effect which the 

antisocial behaviour has had or could have had on others when considering whether it is 
reasonable to grant a possession order on the grounds of nuisance or annoyance. If it is 
satisfied that a ground for possession has been proved and that it is reasonable to make 
an order, it will make an outright or suspended order for possession.  

 
22.36 Section 22 of the Disability Discrimination Act, 1995 (“the DDA”) provides that a 

landlord may not take proceedings against a tenant on the grounds of any activity by 
the tenant which is a result of the tenant’s disability, and that to do so would constitute 
discrimination. If the tenant’s conduct is such that it endangers the health and safety of 
any person (which may include the disabled person), we can justify taking proceedings 
against the tenant. We need only demonstrate to the court that the tenant’s disability 
has been taken into consideration before proceedings are issued. This includes 
service of any Notices.  

 
23.0  Other powers  
 
23.1 As well as using early interventions and legal action, we will proactively partner with 

other organisations that have other powers to deal with antisocial behaviour. In 
particular, we will work closely with local police, environmental health and other housing 
organisations.  

 
23.2 At an early stage we will work with police to ensure that appropriate warnings are 

issued to perpetrators of antisocial behaviour. This may include:  
 
• Juvenile reprimands and final warnings  
• Police cautions and conditional cautions  
• Prostitutes cautions  
• Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs)  
• Penalty Notices for Disorder (PNDs)  
 
23.3 Police may also arrest people who engage in disorderly, threatening or insulting 

behaviour under the Public Order Act 1986, after they have been warned about the 
behaviour.  

 
23.4 Where antisocial behaviour is criminal and is taken to court, the court may give a prison 

sentence; apply a fine, a conditional discharge, a suspended prison sentence, a 
probation order, or a community service order.  

 
23.5 Where there are specific problems around antisocial behaviour associated with a 

particular locality, we will work proactively with the police and/or local authority to put 
into place:  

• Directions Power 
• Community Protection Notice 
• Community Protection Order ( Public Spaces) 
• Community Protection Order ( Closure ) 
 
23.6 Constables in uniform can also issue a direction to an individual aged 16 years or more 

to leave a public locality, where they believe the individual’s presence is likely to 

Page 35



28 
 

contribute to alcohol related crime and disorder. These directions to leave can be used 
alongside a Community Protection Notice.  

 
23.7 There are specific powers particularly available to the Council to tackle environmental 

antisocial behaviour e.g.: 
 
• Serving a noise abatement notice, or using powers under the Noise Act 1996  
• Establishing Audible Alarm areas  
• Seizure of property that is being used to create a nuisance  
• Dog control orders  
• Litter clearing notices  
• Gating orders  
• High hedges notices  

 
 
24.0  Support for victims, witnesses and perpetrators  
 
24.1 Antisocial behaviour can cause significant distress to victims and witnesses.  We will 

adopt a victim harm centered approach and will risk assess all victims to ascertain 
their level of vulnerability and identify their support needs.  The Council will work with 
local agencies and community groups to help provide appropriate support for victims of 
antisocial behaviour. We may provide this support from within the group or work with 
external partners or agencies. We will refer to specialist agencies, where relevant, to 
provide specialist help and support. We will make counselling services available to 
those who would find it helpful.  

 
24.2 We will make the reporting process, interviewing, creation of an action plan, risk 

assessment and evidence collection mechanisms as straightforward as possible to 
minimise the burden on complainants. Staff dealing with reports initially and on an 
ongoing basis will be considerate and sensitive to the potential distress of the victims 
and witnesses.  

 
24.3 We will consider the safety and perception of safety of victims and witnesses, and 

where appropriate we will work with partners to provide additional safety measures such 
as regular patrols, visits by officers, provision of personal alarms and CCTV systems. 
We will liaise with Crime Prevention services where necessary to protect witnesses.  

 
24.4 Where appropriate we will carry out a risk assessment of victim and witness homes and 

install any necessary alarms, new locks or panic buttons.  
 
24.5 Where possible we will use mentor schemes to put the witness in touch with other 

residents who might be available to offer support.  
 
24.6 In severe cases, for example where physical violence has been experienced, or there is 

irresolvable damaging conflict between two parties, we may consider whether a 
management move would be appropriate.  

 
24.7 The role of witnesses in court proceedings is invaluable as they can provide pertinent 

evidence about antisocial behaviour that has occurred.  
 
24.8 We will be sensitive when taking witness statements, and ensure that the witness is 

happy with the statement before it is finalised.  
 

Page 36



29 
 

24.9 Where attendance at court is required full explanations of the procedures and pre-visits 
to court will be offered to witnesses in advance and support offered throughout, 
including escort to court and mentoring. We will liaise with court services to minimise the 
stresses of a hearing. Guidance about the court process can be found in the document 
“Supporting victims and witnesses in antisocial behaviour court cases”.  

 
24.10 Where witnesses have a physical or mental disability we will ensure that appropriate 

adjustments are made in order for them to participate as fully as possible, including the 
provision of a support worker during the court session if needed.  

  
24.11 We will consider whether perpetrators have any support needs right from the 

beginning of any case that we are dealing with. Information on support referrals as an 
early intervention is available above.  

 
24.12 Where we are considering proceeding to legal action against perpetrators of antisocial 

behaviour, we will make sure we are not discriminating against the perpetrator because 
of a disability that they have, in accordance with the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 
and 2005.  

 
24.13 We will also consider any additional support needs that they may have at this stage. 
 
24.14 If there is any evidence to suggest that the person against whom legal action is being 

taken may be suffering from drug, alcohol or mental health problems or an autistic 
spectrum disorder, the necessary support should be provided by social services or other 
support agencies. Such support should run parallel with the collection of evidence and 
application for legal action. This ensures that the court can balance the needs of the 
community with the needs of any alleged perpetrator.  

 
24.15 We will ensure that all communication with the perpetrator about any legal action that 

we are taking is in an appropriate language and format for the perpetrator to 
understand. Where required we will meet the perpetrator to explain action that is being 
taken.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



Page 38

This page is left blank intentionally.



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  
Report To: Housing Portfolio Holder  17 June 2015 
Lead Officer: Director of Housing 

 
 

 
Social Housing Tenancy Fraud Policy 

 
Purpose 

 
1. To seek the approval of the Housing Portfolio Holder on the policy to deal with reports 

of alleged tenancy fraud.  
 
2. This is not a key decision  

 
Recommendations 

 
3. It is recommended that the Portfolio Holder approves the policy set out in Appendix 

A. 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 
4. The Council’s housing stock is a valuable asset which provides security and stability 

to many adults and families. Those who commit fraud deprive people who are 
genuinely in need from accessing social housing. The Council is committed to 
tackling fraud as a priority and this policy provides a framework to achieve that aim. 

 
Background 

 
5. Following the Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013, the Government made 

available grant money to support work on tenancy fraud. The Council, working in 
partnership with Huntingdonshire District Council, was successful in a bid for grant 
support. 

 
6. The Council has used the grant to fund a Tenancy Fraud Officer on a fixed term 

contract for 2 years to sit within Affordable Homes. That post commenced in March 
2014.  
 

7. The first year proved to be extremely successful with over 100 cases of potential 
fraud being referred and following investigation of each case we were able to secure 
the return on seven homes to the Council. The Government places a notional figure 
of £18,000 as the saving to the landlord through the return on one property, giving 
notional savings for the Council in year one of £126,000. 
 

8. This policy is needed to consolidate the good practice established during the first year 
of operation of the Tenancy Fraud Officer and to ensure that the Council has a clear 
framework to develop this work further. 
 
Considerations 

9. This policy sets out how the Council plans to prevent, detect and act against 
instances of social housing tenancy fraud.  

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 39



10. The Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013 has given local authorities more 
powers to investigate tenancy fraud through better access to data. It introduces new 
criminal offences of sub-letting and the ability to make claims to court for any profit 
made by tenants who sublet their properties.  

 
11. The Council encourages tenants and members of the public to report suspected 

cases of tenancy fraud and a confidential webpage is available to assist with this. 
Prevention will include anti-fraud posters and raising publicity around successful 
prosecutions.   
 

12. Affordable Homes also works in partnership with other service areas and external 
agencies to cross reference information in order to detect fraud.  
 

13. Action is balanced and proportionate and a range of factors are considered when 
deciding what is the most appropriate action to take. The Council also offers support 
and advice where required. 
 

14. New developments include consideration of how we can prevent fraud before a 
customer is given a tenancy as well as utilising specialist products that help detect 
fraud and support our investigations.     

 
Options 

 
15. The Portfolio Holder is recommended to approve the adoption of the policy as set out 

in Appendix A. 
 
16. The Portfolio Holder may wish instead to require extra work be completed on this 

policy and brought back in the near future for a decision when that work is completed. 
 

Implications 
 
Financial 

17. The provision of this service is fully costed within the HRA Business Plan and the 
current Affordable Homes budget approved by Council with Government grant 
funding secured for a second year. 

 
 Legal 
18. The adoption of the policy will ensure that the Council is meeting its statutory 

obligations. 
 
 Staffing 
19. There are no extra staffing requirements to deliver this policy. 
 
 Risk Management 
20. There are no significant risks associated with this policy.   
 
 Equality and Diversity 
21. An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out and there are no adverse 

impacts associated with this policy. 
 

Consultation responses (including from the Youth Council) 
 
22. There has been consultation with the Tenant Participation Group which has endorsed 

the new policy and procedures. 
 

Page 40



Effect on Strategic Aims 
 
Improve efficiency and value for money within a viable financial strategy. 

 
 
Background Papers 
 
Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013  
 

 
Report Author:  Geoff Clark – Neighbourhood Services Manager  

Telephone: (01954) 713025 

Page 41



Page 42

This page is left blank intentionally.



 
 

Appendix A 

 
 

  
  

 
Social Housing  

Tenancy Fraud Policy 
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
   
  
   
  
 
 
 
 
  
  
  
 Published:  June 2015

 
 

 

Page 43



 

1 
 

 
 

 
Social Housing Tenancy Fraud Policy 

 

 

Section 1:  Introduction 
  
1.1 Social housing is a valuable national asset, which provides security and stability to 

millions of people in housing need. However, the Audit Commission estimates that 
there are as many as 100,000 social homes in England that could be unlawfully 
occupied, costing local councils in excess of £1.75 billion each year. 

 
1.2 Those who commit tenancy fraud deprive people who are genuinely in need from 

accessing social housing. This is unacceptable and the Council is committed to 
tackling this issue as a priority by ensuring that existing stock is properly managed 
and that tenancy fraud is prevented or appropriately dealt with when detected. 

 
1.3 Following the implementation of the Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013, 

local authorities have been given more powers to investigate social tenancy fraud 
through better access to data.  The Act also includes new criminal offences of sub-
letting, with a maximum sentence of 2 years’ imprisonment and an unlimited fine, and 
the ability to make claims to court for any profit made by tenants who sublet their 
properties.  The Council will make best use of these additional powers, as well as the 
ability to seek possession through the Courts under the Housing Act, or take action 
where offences are committed under the Theft Act 1968 and the Fraud Act 2006.  
Proceedings may be brought under any relevant legislation as part of the Council’s 
responsibility to tackling tenancy fraud. 

 
1.4 South Cambridgeshire District Council adopts a zero tolerance approach to tenancy 

fraud in accordance with the Council’s Anti Theft, Fraud and Corruption Policy. 
 
 
Section 2:  Purpose 
 
2.1 The purpose of this Policy is to set out South Cambridgeshire District Council’s 

approach to tackling tenancy fraud. 
  
 
Section 3:  Links to other Strategies and Policies 
  
3.1 Anti-Theft, Fraud and Corruption Policy 

Corporate Policy & Procedures - Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
 Whistleblowing Policy 

Housing Strategy 
Tenancy Policy 
Allocations Policy 
 

  
 Section 4:  Definition 
 
4.1 South Cambridgeshire District Council defines social housing tenancy fraud as 

“unauthorised occupation that describes any kind of possession by an 
occupier which is either prohibited or requires consent by the landlord, which 

Page 44



 

2 
 

 
 

 
Social Housing Tenancy Fraud Policy 

 

has not been granted. It will include situations where an existing tenant 
continues in possession although the property is no longer their only or 
principal home.  It also includes making fraudulent applications for housing or 
when applying as a homeless person”.  

 
Examples of tenancy fraud include: 

 
• Obtaining a social housing tenancy by misrepresentation of identity or personal 

circumstances. 
 

• Making a false statement or withholding information when applying as a 
homeless person. 

 
• Suspected unlawful sub letting, including; subletting the whole property to a 

family member, a single household, or multiple sublets within one property. 
 

• Non occupation by the tenant as their sole or principal home, including tenancy 
abandonment. 

 
• Wrongly claimed succession - retention of a tenancy following the death or 

vacation of the tenant following a previous succession, or of a non qualifying 
person 

 
• Unauthorised assignment of the tenancy 

 
• "Key selling" - where the tenant leaves the property and passes on the keys in 

return for a one off lump sum payment or favour 
 

• Unauthorised mutual exchanges 
 
• Purchasing a socially rented home under the Right to Buy by misrepresentation 

of identity or personal circumstances. 
 
  
Section 5:  Scope 
 
5.1  The policy will provide the framework for the Council to identify and address social 

housing tenancy fraud within the local authority stock.   It does not extend to dealing 
with housing fraud in the private sector. 

  
 
Section 6:  Aim 

 
6.1. The overall aim of the policy is to ensure the fair allocation of social housing to those 

in greatest need. 
 

Page 45



 

3 
 

 
 

 
Social Housing Tenancy Fraud Policy 

 

 
Section 7:  Objectives 

 
7.1  To raise awareness of the issue of social housing tenancy fraud and its impact on 

communities in the district of South Cambridgeshire. 
 
7.2  To prevent abuse of the housing allocation system through robust, effective and 

timely housing management processes. 
 
7.3  To maximise the availability of council properties by seeking recovery of unlawfully 

occupied homes wherever possible. 
 
 
Section 8:  South Cambridgeshire District Council’s Approach 
 

Prevention 
 
8.1 Our approach will focus on preventing fraud occurring. The Council will use a range 

of publicity methods to raise awareness of tenancy fraud amongst customers, the 
public and partner agencies.  All applicants and tenants will be made aware that 
tenancy fraud will not be tolerated and will be dealt with swiftly and severely.  This 
will include warning notices placed within the standard application forms to ensure 
applicants are aware of the implications in providing false or misleading information. 

 
8.2 The use of publicity as a deterrent will include anti-fraud posters displayed in 

reception and communal areas across the district, and articles periodically placed in 
tenant publications and on the Council’s website.  This will include publicity around 
successful prosecutions made by the Council. 

 
8.3 Preventative measures will include verifying information provided by the applicant on 

applying for social housing, or making a homeless application, or when signing up to 
a new tenancy.  This will include checking forms of identification provided by the 
applicant, their tenancy history and their household circumstances. 

 
8.4 Information about the rights and responsibilities around occupation will be provided to 

every new Council tenant upon sign-up of their tenancy. 
 
8.5 New tenant follow up visits will be carried out to check all correct persons have taken 

up occupancy. 
 

Detection 
 

8.6 We will encourage tenants and members of the public to report suspected cases of 
tenancy fraud to the Council.  A confidential webpage to report fraud is available. 

 
8.7 A dedicated Tenancy Fraud Officer will act upon reports of tenancy fraud and 

investigate cases using a variety of means, including ID verification, cross-reference 
checks and tenancy visits.  Investigations will be conducted in accordance with 
relevant legislation to ensure that evidence gathered is admissible and collected 
lawfully. 

 

Page 46



 

4 
 

 
 

 
Social Housing Tenancy Fraud Policy 

 

8.8 We will work in partnership with other service areas to cross-reference information in 
order to detect fraud.  Data sharing can be used to identify where an individual has 
provided different/conflicting information about themselves, for example claiming the 
single person discount for council tax, but applying for rehousing on the grounds of 
overcrowding. 

 
8.9  We will encourage a cross sector approach to tackling tenancy fraud through data 

sharing in partnership with the Cambridgeshire Tenancy Fraud Forum which was 
established to tackle tenancy fraud in Cambridgeshire.  

 
8.10 The Council is also a member of the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) and submits data 

bi-annually to be matched against private and other public sector bodies to highlight 
instances where data provided by one party matches that held by another, indicating 
possible cases of tenancy fraud within the District. 

 
Action 

 
8.11 We will take a balanced and proportionate approach to tackling social housing 

tenancy fraud. We will consider a range of factors in deciding the most appropriate 
action to take in each instance. Each assessment will take account of the following 
factors; 

 
• The estimated costs to the Council of taking court action balanced against the 

likelihood of success 
 

• The evidence of intent of the individual(s) to commit tenancy fraud 
 

• The public interest 
 

• The potential for adverse impact on households or unintended consequences of 
enforcement action 

 
8.12 In most cases, where an instance of tenancy fraud is uncovered, the tenant may 

return the keys with no need for further court action. Returning the property is the 
main aim of counter fraud action. For tenants who do not surrender the property, the 
Neighbourhood Support Manager will instruct the Legal Team to instigate civil action 
through the courts serving Notice to Quit, Notice of Possession Proceedings or 
Notice Seeking Possession, as appropriate. 

 
8.13 Where the Neighbourhood Support Manager considers that criminal prosecution 

should be pursued, due consideration will be given by the Legal Team in accordance 
with the Council’s constitution as to whether legal proceedings should be instigated.  

 
Supporting sub-tenants 
 

8.14 If a sub-tenant is discovered during an investigation the Council will support the 
household by offering advice and assistance which may be in the form of completing 
a homeless application if applicable and applying to the Home-Link Choice Based 
Lettings Scheme.   We will advise them of the legal process the Council will take in 
reclaiming the property so that they are aware of the time scale involved for them to 
vacate the property. 

 

Page 47



 

5 
 

 
 

 
Social Housing Tenancy Fraud Policy 

 

 Review 
 
8.15 We will continuously review the controls and systems in place to prevent and detect 

tenancy fraud through best practice and from lessons learned.  
 
 
Section 9:  Expected Benefits 

 
9.1  Tackling tenancy fraud will enable the recovery of properties that are unlawfully 

occupied, therefore maximising appropriate use of the limited housing stock. 
 
9.2  Implementing the policy will build public trust and community confidence in the 

fairness of the Council’s housing allocation system. 
 
9.3  Improving detection and prevention of fraud contributes to protecting the public 

purse. 
 
 
Section 10:  Legislation  
 
10.1 Government legislation has an impact on how South Cambridgeshire District Council 

can implement its Tenancy Fraud policy. Listed below are the key Acts that have 
been acknowledged.  

 
• Law of Property Act 1925  
• Theft Act 1968 
• Criminal Evidence Act 1984 
• Housing Act 1985 as amended  
• Housing Act 1988 as amended  
• Data Protection Act 1988  
• Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996 
• Article 8, Human Rights Act 1998 
• Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
• Fraud Act 2006 
• Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013 

 
 
Section 11:  Sensitive Data Handling 

 
11.1  In the course of investigating suspected social housing tenancy fraud we will abide 

by the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998 and Article 8 of the Human 
Rights Act 1998 (right to respect for private and family life), using the powers defined 
in the Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013.    

 

Page 48



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  
Report To: Housing Portfolio Holder 17 June 2015 
Lead Officer: Director of Housing  

 
 

 
Communal Facilities Use and Charging Policy 

 
Purpose 

 
1. To seek approval from the Housing Portfolio Holder for the adoption of the Communal 

Facilities Use and Charging Policy attached (Appendix A).  
 
2. This is not a key decision 

  
Recommendations 

 
3. It is recommended that the Portfolio Holder approves the adoption of the Communal 

Facilities Use and Charging Policy as set out in Appendix A.  
 

Reasons for recommendation 
4. This charging policy has been introduced to be able to charge groups, external 

businesses, and residents who use the communal rooms at the Council’s sheltered 
schemes to offset against service charges incurred by the residents on any of the 
Council’s sheltered schemes. 

 
Background 

 
5. In July 2012 variable service charging was introduced for tenants of sheltered 

housing to bring them in line with leaseholders. All tenants and leaseholders of 
sheltered housing are now paying the actual costs for the communal facilities.  

 
6. The Housing Portfolio Holder in February 2012 approved the move to regularise 

charges for the use of communal rooms to outside groups. 
 

Considerations 
7. The objective is to ensure that the Council adopts a consistent, fair and transparent 

approach in the way it manages the use of the communal facilities. 
 
8. A mechanism for applying new charges has been developed and tested to act as a 

pilot scheme. 
 

9. Prior to piloting the new charges, sheltered estate officers provided details of all 
external groups, businesses and activities attended by residents at which, a majority 
were non-residents of that particular scheme. 
 

10. A letter of notification was sent or given by hand to those identified as using the 
facility informing them of the charge and that this would commence from 1 October 
2014.  The administration is undertaken by the sheltered estate officers and the ability 
to pay by direct debit has also been offered. 

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 49



11. Further consultation took place with residents at sheltered housing forums in 
December 2014, March 2015, and the team leader attended a number of scheme 
coffee mornings to understand the concerns of residents.  Following their feedback 
the charging for communal rooms was simplified (Appendix A, page 1, charges for 
communal room use) and put in place and trialled from 1 April 2015. 
 

12. Following these consultation activities and trial period, a Communal Facilities Use 
and Charging Policy, with appendices relating to insurance guidance; risk 
assessments for communal rooms; kitchen use guidelines and booking form has 
been developed by the team leader in conjunction with the sheltered estate officers. 
This is attached to this report as Appendix A.  Upon adoption, a copy of the policy 
will be available at each communal room. 
 

13. In essence the charging policy is as follows: 
 
• Any group where all or most attendees are residents and are from that individual 

scheme -  no charge 
• All external groups and businesses will be required to pay £5 per hour 

 
Options 

 
14. The overall feedback from residents and others using the communal rooms has been 

positive and the charges seen as reasonable compared to charges for other similar 
community facilities.  

 
15. The Portfolio Holder has the option to:  
 

A) Approve the adoption of  the Communal Facilities Use and Charging Policy 
as set out the appendices to this report 

 
B) Require that the policy is further revised and brought back for 

consideration at a future Portfolio Holder meeting. 
 

Implications 
 
Financial 

16. The charges applied will help cover the running cots of the sheltered communal 
rooms. This in turn will reduce the service charges to residents of the scheme. The 
Council will not receive any financial benefit from these charges. 

 
 Legal 
17. None 
 
 Staffing 
18. None. 
 
 Risk Management 
19. There are no significant risks associated with this policy.  Issues related to liability 

insurance, risk assessments and food and hygiene are addressed in appendices 1, 2 
and 3 of the Policy. 

 
 Equality and Diversity 
20. Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and no adverse impacts found. 
 

 

Page 50



Consultation responses (including from the Youth Council) 
 
21. There have been consultation activities with sheltered housing residents as identified 

in the report. 
 

Effect on Strategic Aims 
 
Aim 4 -  

22. Work with tenants, parish council and community groups to sustain successful, 
vibrant communities. 
 

Background Papers 
Sheltered Housing Review Report at Portfolio Holder meeting on 15 February 2012 
 
 
Report Author:  Tracey Cassidy – Supported Housing Manager 

Telephone: (01954) 713271 

Page 51



Page 52

This page is left blank intentionally.



 

1 
 

 

APPENDIX A 
 
 

Communal facilities use and charging policy 
 
Background 
 
South Cambridgeshire District council (SCDC) manages 41 communal buildings located on 
Sheltered Housing schemes throughout the district. 
 
In July 2012 variable service charging was introduced for tenants of sheltered housing to bring 
them in line with leaseholders. All tenants and leaseholders of sheltered housing are now 
paying the actual costs for the communal facilities. The housing portfolio holder in February 
2012 approved the move to regularise charges for the use of communal rooms to outside 
groups. 
 
The monies from the communal facilities hire charge received from 1 October 2014 will show as 
income against each communal facilities service charge and therefore will reduce service 
charges to all tenants and leaseholders at that scheme.   
 
 
Objective 
 
The objective is to ensure that SCDC adopts a consistent, fair and transparent approach in the 
way it manages the use of the communal facilities. 
 
Communal facilities can be used by: 
 
• Tenants or leaseholders of sheltered housing 
• Older people living in the wider community  
• Outside agencies wishing to provide a service to residents living on that scheme 
• External bodies not providing a service to sheltered housing residents   
• SCDC staff  
• Tenant participation group 
• Emergency Rest Centres 

  
Charges for communal room use 
 
• Any group where all or most attendees are residents and are from that individual scheme  

no charge 
• All external groups and businesses will be required to pay £5 per hour  
• Groups where the majority of attendees are residents from the community will be 

required to pay £5 per hour 
 
 
 

Page 53



 

2 
 

 

 
Hire and Payment 
• Contact the Sheltered Estate Officer for that scheme 
• The hirer is responsible for letting the Sheltered Estate Officer know of any changes to 

your use of the hall 
• Payment can be made via invoice, direct debit, cheque or cash 

 
Condition of use of communal rooms 
 
• No smoking throughout the building 
• Hirer/user agrees to take full responsibility for the safety of occupants, to take notice of 

the placements of fire exits and fire extinguishers. 
• Hirer to ensure that the number of people attending any one event does not exceed the 

maximum recommended for that scheme. 
• Hirer/user agrees to adhere to Food Hygiene guidelines. 
• No animals allowed in the building except for Guide dogs and Support dogs 
• Food and Drink provision are the responsibility of user of the facility. 
• Where the user plans to sell alcoholic beverages, a license must be obtained and a copy 

must be given to SCDC prior to the event taking place. (Please contact Environmental 
and Health Services. Information can be found on the South Cambridgeshire District 
Council web site or telephone 03450 450 500) 

• Use of the kitchen and kitchenware are permitted, any breakages will be charged for and 
users are responsible for cleaning after use. In the event that this does not take place, a 
recharge will be made at current market cost to cover this service. 

• All individuals using the communal facilities are to keep the external area accessible for 
Emergency Vehicles 

• All pull-cords that are located within the communal areas are for emergency use only 
• Ensure all doors and windows are closed and locked, and that lights are switched off 

after use. 
• All functions will normally be required to end by 11.00pm, the sheltered estate officer 

responsible for the facility will confirm these times which will vary from scheme to 
scheme. 

• Keys should be returned as arranged. 
• South Cambridgeshire District Council will not accept responsibility for any damage or 

loss of property. 
 
Cancellation policy 
 
There is no formal cancellation policy; however we would ask that hirers of the room give the 
sheltered estate officer as much notice as possible if they wish to cancel an event. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



 

3 
 

 

 
Liability Insurance (appendix 1) 
 
Risk assessments (appendix 2) 
 
SCDC carries out regular risk assessments for activities in Communal rooms (this can be found 
on communal room lobby notice board) 
Please make sure that you read and comply with the risk assessments  
If you undertake any activity not covered by this assessment please discuss this with the 
Sheltered Estate Officer.  
 
 
Food and drink   (See appendix 3 for comprehensive information) 
 
• Any tea, coffee, cakes, fish and chips (bought in) do not require the person organising to 

be registered with South Cambridgeshire District council  
• Any persons cooking hot food less than once a month does not need to be registered 

with SCDC 
• Any person cooking regularly once a month or more on any scheme will need to be 

registered with SCDC and hold a current food hygiene certificate. 
 
The Supported Housing manager reserves the right to: 
  
• Exempt a social activity from charge where it could be detrimental to resident’s wellbeing 

or welfare. 
• Decline any request to hire the communal lounge in the event that the use is deemed 

inappropriate. 
 
Organisers/ hirers of the communal facility will be responsible for the safety of occupants. 
Having taken note of the placement of fire exits and fire extinguishers and will instruct the group 
accordingly. 
 
I/We undertake to ensure that the following rules are adhered to: 
 
No smoking throughout the building. 
No animals allowed in the building except guide or support dogs. 
The premises should be left in a clean and tidy condition. 
 
I/We agree to ensure that all food hygiene, health and safety, and any other appropriate 
legislation is adhered to. 
 
I/We understand that I/we will be responsible for any damage or loss of property and that  
 
Tenants and leaseholders who reside in a sheltered housing property will always have 
priority over other bookings for the communal room, however reasonable notice would 
be required 

Page 55



 

4 
 

 

 
 
Appendix 1 Liability Insurance  
 
Appendix 2 Risk assessments 
 
Appendix 3 food and hygiene  
 
Appendix 4 room booking form 
 
 

Page 56



INSURANCE GUIDANCE – USE OF COMUNAL ROOMS 

Appendix 1 
 
 
Professional Services (Private Individuals and businesses) 
For professional services are provided, in the communal rooms, by private 
individuals, (e.g. Hairdressers, chiropodists etc: 
 

- Ask for a copy of their public liability insurance.. 
- Take a photo-copy of the insurance certificate, and retain this copy on file, 

in case of future claims. 
 
Professional Services (NHS) 
NHS nurses and staff will hold relevant insurances, so there is no need to ask for, or 
retain copies of this information. 
 
However, a check should be made to ensure that such staff are NHS employees. 
 
Religious Services 
Major religious churches (Church of England, Catholic, Baptist) etc. will hold their 
own insurances, so there is no need to obtain proof of insurance.  
 
Smaller churches may not hold public liability insurance, and should be asked to 
provide details, a copy of which should be retained on file. 
 
Use by Resident Groups 
Where residents groups meet in communal rooms, there is no need for separate 
public liability insurance, unless activities are considered particularly risky, even 
where a small number of non-residents may attend. 
 
Commercial Hiring of Communal Facilities/One of Private Events 
Where communal facilities are hired out on a commercial basis (e.g. to 
Weightwatchers, or to Clubs not open to residents etc) then the hirer should be 
encouraged to take out appropriate liability insurance. 
 
Lunch Clubs 
Volunteers, cooking lunches for residents should be encouraged to take out 
appropriate liability insurance. 
 
Checks should be made to ensure that such volunteers have sufficient training in 
food hygiene, and comply with Environmental Health regulations. 
 
The Councils Environmental Health Section should be able to assist with this. 
 
Commercial Goods Sellers 
Where sales people visit to sell goods, there are unlikely to be any specific insurance 
implications. 
 
Level of Insurance Public Liability Insurance Cover  
The minimum recommended level of Public Liability is cover of at least £5M. 
 

Page 57



Page 58

This page is left blank intentionally.



HSF 004 - Risk Assessment Form                              July 2014
                                                                                

 

Appendix 2 
 

 
 
 
Ref No AF 003 Issue No 1 Service Affordable Homes (Sheltered Housing) 
Activity Use of Communal rooms in sheltered accommodation schemes. 

Summary of Control 
Measures 

 
• Outside users to adhere to good practice guidelines or federation guidelines..  
• Hold a liability insurance if needed. 
• Food Hygiene Certificate. 
• Registered NHS practitioner. 
• Electrical items inspected / PAT tested 

 
 

Hazard 
 

 
Hazard effect 

Se
ve

rit
y 

Lik
eli

ho
od

 
Ri

sk
 

Control measures to minimize risk 

Se
ve

rit
y 

Lik
eli

ho
od

 
Ri

sk
 

General use of rooms 
Bingo, coffee mornings etc 

Slips, trips and falls, 
obstructions, uneven 
floors, spilt liquids 
causing injury.  
 
Fractures, cuts, 
bruising. 
 

3 3 9 

Keeping work areas tidy and walkways free of 
obstructions (stairs with anti slip edging) 
Appropriate warning signage and instruction. 
Trailing cables protected using rubber cable covers or 
using black and yellow tape. 
Spilt liquids to be cleaned up immediately. 
Wear sensible shoes and do not run in the building. 
Report any slip or trip hazards to the facilities team. 
First aiders and first aid supplies provided 

3 2 6 

Cooking Burns, Scalds,  3 3 9 
To follow food safety guidelines, to hold a current 
food hygiene certificate. Use correct hot food gloves 
when handling hot oven trays etc. 

3 2 6 

Hairdressing,  Minor Cuts, burns, 
 

3 2 6 
Must follow industry or federation guidelines 
particularly when hair colouring. 
Trained hairdresser 

3 1 3 

 
RISK ASSESSMENT 

 

P
age 59



HSF 004 - Risk Assessment Form                              July 2014
                                                                                

 

Chiropodist Minor cuts, infection 3 2 6 
To follow NHS guidance and best practice. 
All tools sterilised. 
Registered practitioner ( current )  

3 1 3 

Using electrical equipment 
including  

Electric shock, electrical 
burns, Injury, death, 
Muscular skeletal 
disorders. 
Ozone / particulates 
exposure 

3 3 9 

Electrical appliances should be located / used away 
from sources of water. 
Electrical appliances should be used in accordance 
with manufacturer’s instructions. 
All electrical appliances are inspected and tested prior 
to use and PAT tested on a regular basis. 
Any damaged or defective electrical equipment must 
be taken out of service and reported. 
On no account should any employee attempt to repair 
any electrical equipment. 
DSE assessments 

3 2 6 

Chemical use (COSHH) 
Headaches, nausea, 
vomiting, short term and 
long term health 
problems. 

3 3 9 
COSHH data sheets and risk assessments. 
Personal protective equipment, boots, gloves , 
goggles, overalls, respiratory protective equipment 
(RPE) according to COSHH RA – Specific COSHH 
Storage if required 

3 2 6 

Manual handling injury  
Manual handling injury 
i.e. muscoskeletal, 
sprain, trapped nerves 
long term damage 

3 3 9 
See manual handling assessment  SCDC 007M 
Check weight (test) prior to moving or lifting 
Do not move overloaded or excessively heavy items. 
Take care moving and lifting over uneven ground.  
Manual handling training 

3 2 6 

Dealing with members of 
the public including  violent 
/ abusive actions 

Entanglement with 
equipment, impact, 
crushing, laceration, 
cuts, severe bruising, 
injury. 

4 3 12 

Work should stop when members of the public (non 
volunteers) are in the immediate work area. 
Be firm but polite for them to move away from the 
location. 
Be non-confrontational and move away if defusing 
actions fail. 
Summon assistance. 

4 1 4 

P
age 60



HSF 004 - Risk Assessment Form                              July 2014
                                                                                

 

Most Likely Severity:- 
 
5 = Multiple deaths could be caused 
4 = One death or permanent disablement, or multiple major 

injuries could be caused. 
3 = Hazard capable of causing major injury (impairment 

lasting more than 1 month) 
2 = Hazard can cause equipment damage, illness or injury 

(with impairment lasting between 3 days and 1 month) 
1 = Hazard cannot result in serious injury or illness, unlikely 

to require more than minor first aid 

Likelihood / Probability:- 
 
5 = Probably will occur in the next six 

months 
 
 
4 = Probably will occur in the next year 
 
3 = Probably will occur in the next 5 years 
 
2 = May occur in the next 5 years 
 
1 = Unlikely to ever occur 

Degree of Residual Risk:- 
 
16 – 25 High (Unacceptable. 

Task must not be 
carried out without 
additional controls)  

 
8-15 Medium (Task may need to 

be monitored 
 
1-6 Low 

Final assessment or 
comments 

 
 
 
All users/ visitors must familiarise themselves with the actions required in the 
event of a fire. Notices are displayed detailing these actions. 
 
 

 
Overall Residual Risk 

 
6  

Low 

 

Is the overall risk acceptable  Yes  No If yes work can be commenced If No task must be re-evaluated 
Initial assessment by (Name) Shirley Stephen Signature  Date 05 / 01 / 15 
Assessment  approved by Tracy Cassidy Signature  Date 05 / 01 / 15 
Assessment review by 05 / 01 / 18 Signature  Date  

 
Assessment must be reviewed when there any changes to environment, procedures, equipment or new employees who may have different capability. 
  
                
              

P
age 61



P
age 62

T
his page is left blank intentionally.



 

 

Appendix 3 
 

Food Hygiene Rules for Communal kitchens 
 
    All food supplied is required by law to be safe to eat. 

Anyone using this facility should follow these rules of kitchen hygiene 
ALWAYS 
• Wash hands thoroughly before starting to cook or helping to prepare food 
• Cover cuts, sores and burns with clean waterproof dressings 
• Wear clean protective clothing (Aprons) 
• Keep fingernails short and clean and remove nail polish 
• Refrigerate open sauces and preservatives 
• Use oven gloves when handling hot food and utensils 
• Record fridge /freezer temperatures if used to store food 

      NEVER 
• Wear jewellery other than a plain wedding ring 
• Wear strong smelling perfumes or aftershave 
• Refreeze food 
• Put warm food straight into the fridge 
• Leave food out for more than 4 hours 

Registration with South Cambridgeshire District Council is required 
• If any one person or organisation cooks food more than once a month 
• It is a legal requirement that sufficient training has been undertaken by anyone preparing, 

handling or serving food  and a Certificate of Food Hygiene Training will be required 
 
Registration with South Cambridgeshire District Council is not required 
• If any one person or organisation cooks food less than once a month 
• For providing tea, coffee and biscuits 
• For fish and chip meals delivered or obtained from a reputable supplier 
• It is recommended that Food hygiene training is undertaken by anyone preparing or 

serving food  but it is not required if you are providing tea, coffee, biscuits, cake or 
bringing in food such as fish and chips. 

 

Page 63



Page 64

This page is left blank intentionally.



Send to 

 

Appendix 4 
 
Booking Form              Payment type                INVOICE/ CASH 
 
Scheme name   

 
Month  

Name of hirer   
 

Contact 
number 

 
Type of event  
 

 
Address (invoice sent to if 
appropriate)   

 
 

 
Documentation (please provide copies where appropriate) 
 
Liability Insurance  Yes  

 
Recommended No 

Food Hygiene Yes  
 

Recommended No 
 
Dates of hire  
 
Hire 
recurrence  

One 
off  

Weekly 4 weekly Monthly  Other No. of 
hours 
per 
event 

 Times of 
hire  

Hire 
recurrence  

 One 
off 

weekly 4 weekly Monthly Other No. of 
hours 
per 
event 

 Times of 
hire 

 

 
I confirm that I have read the appropriate policies and will observe the guidelines 
 
 
I will contact the sheltered estate officer if the hours change on telephone number  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Signature  
 
Date 
 

Page 65



Page 66

This page is left blank intentionally.



  Form updated: 8 June  2015 

Housing Portfolio Holder – Work Programme 
 
Date of meeting Title of Report  

 
Key or Non-Key? Reason Key Specify 

no(s) listed below 
Purpose of Report, ie 
For Recommendation / 
Decision / Monitoring 

Lead Officer / Report 
Author 

   
21 October 2015 Wilford Furlong 

Regeneration 
Key 1 Decision Gill Anderton 

 Commuted Sum Policy Key 1 Decision Julie Fletcher 

 Service Plan Themes 
2016/17 

Non Key  Decision Stephen Hills 

March 2016 Housing Strategy 
2016- 2021 

Non Key  Decision Julie Fletcher 

 Service Plan 2016/17 Non Key  Decision Stephen Hills 
 

 New build Pipeline 
update 

Non Key  Monitoring Gill Anderton 

 
Key Decisions 
 
1. it is likely to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the 
 service or function to which the decision relates, or 
 
2. it is likely to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area of the District comprising two or more wards. 
 In determining the meaning of `significant’ for the purposes of the above, the Council must have regard to any guidance for the time being issued by the 
 Secretary of State in accordance with section 9Q of the 2000 Act (guidance)). 
 

A
genda Item

 7

P
age 67



P
age 68

T
his page is left blank intentionally.



Agenda Item 8

Page 69

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 72

This page is left blank intentionally.



Page 73

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 82

This page is left blank intentionally.



Page 83

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 84

This page is left blank intentionally.



Page 85

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 86

This page is left blank intentionally.



Page 87

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 88

This page is left blank intentionally.



Page 89

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 90

This page is left blank intentionally.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	3 Anti-Social Behaviour Policy and Procedure Statement
	ASB policy draft App A Apr 12 SAL

	4 Social Housing Tenancy Fraud Policy
	Tenancy Fraud Policy App A June 2015

	5 Communal Facilities Use and Charging Policy
	Appendix A- communal room usage policy
	appendix 1Insurance Guidance - Communal Rooms 03-03-15
	appendix 2 Risk assessments for comm rooms
	Appendix 3 kitchen use guidelines
	appendix 4 booking form

	7 Forward Plan
	8 New Build Strategy (Council Homes) 2015-2018
	New Build Strategy FOR PFH - Appendix 1
	New Build Strategy for PFH - Appendix 2
	New Build Strategy for PFH - Appendix 3
	New Build Strategy for PFH - Appendix 4
	New Build Strategy for PFH - Appendix 5


